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Southern Cross is the leading provider of Care Homes in the UK,
with 735 care homes and 37,425 beds nationwide. We offer a range
of care services, including Nursing, Residential and Dementia Care.
The Company consists of two separate divisions: Southern Cross
Healthcare and Ashbourne Senior Living brands – offering private
care homes for the elderly, and the Active Care Partnerships brand
– offering a range of specialist services for people with mental health
requirements and those who are physically less able.
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Southern Cross Healthcare Group
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Stella
HOME MANAGER

Good organisation is key to running any business, and our home managers
have a wide range of responsibilities to consider, including health and
personal requirements, recreational activities, catering, cleaning and
maintenance. Thankfully we have home managers like Stella who are
essential to keeping our business running smoothly.



Group at a Glance

Operating Highlights

» Available beds increased to 37,425
at year end (2007 – 34,304 beds).

» Number of homes operated increased
to 735 at the year end (2007 – 673).

» Average occupancy 89.5% (2007 –
90.7%). Mature occupancy 90.5%
(2007 – 91.1%).

» Average weekly fee up 4.6% to £522
(2007 – £499).

» Acquisitions completed during the
year have all been successfully
integrated, whilst maintaining
efficient cost control management
of the underlying portfolio.

Statutory Financial Highlights

» Revenue £889.4m (2007 – £731.9m).

» Operating loss £5.2m (2007 – £11.9m
income) after a charge of £50.5m
(2007 – £43.5m) for future minimum
lease charges under IAS 17. Excluding
such charges, operating income
decreased by 18.2% to £45.3m
(2007 – £55.4m).

» Basic loss per share for the year
of 9.57p (2007 – 0.96p earnings).

Other Financial Highlights

» Revenue from continuing operations up
14.5% to £837.7m (2007 – £731.9m).

» Home EBITDAR before central costs up
19.8% to £275.7m (2007 – £230.2m).

» Home EBITDAR from continuing
operations before central costs up
13.9% to £262.1m (2007 – £230.2m).

» Adjusted EBITDA up 16.9% to £78.1m
(2007 – £66.8m).

» Home EBITDAR margin, before central
costs, 31.0% (2007 – 31.5%).

» Cash inflow from operations £71.4m
(2007 – £70.3m).

» Adjusted earnings per share for the
year was 19.60p (2007 – 19.04p).

» Interim dividend of 3.75p per share
(2007 – 2.5p). As previously advised
no final dividend will be paid.

Notes
Home EBITDAR is defined as earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation, rent and loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and subsidiary undertakings and
impairment of property assets held for resale. Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation and charges
for future minimum rental increases.
Adjusted earnings per share is defined as earnings before charges for future minimum rental increases, loan arrangement fees written off, loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment and subsidiary undertakings and impairment of freehold assets held for sale and the taxation impact thereof, divided by the weighted average number of shares.
Mature occupancy excludes immature beds, newly developed homes or refurbished homes which have been trading for less than 12 months.
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Emer & Rufus
PET THERAPY

At Southern Cross Healthcare we use various approaches to care. Emer and
Rufus work for Pets As Therapy, a company that we employ to make
special visits to some of our homes to give our service users the opportunity
to interact with animals in a way that they would otherwise be unable to.



Chairman’s Statement

With a clear direction, a new management team,
greater focus on operational performance and
continuing expansion in the market for elderly
care, we face the future with confidence.

Ray Miles Non-Executive Director and Chairman

Secondly, to improve the efficiency and profitability of the business
over time. Improving quality of service and lowering costs whilst
concentrating on maximising cash flow.

Thirdly, to grow the business in a more deliberate manner and
mostly by leasing homes directly from landlords or developers.
We are the leading operator by quite a significant margin and still
have only an 8% share of the UK market. This leading position leaves
us much better able to deal with more difficult real estate and
banking markets, tighter local authority funding, more demanding
regulation and increasing costs, which will all put pressure on many
of our competitors, leading to further consolidation and closures.
In this environment, we will not contemplate further transforming
transactions, instead target steady and manageable growth.

The events which took place during the course of the year have
caused us to re-examine our internal control systems and our
management of risk. We are making some fundamental changes
to the way in which management report and interact between
themselves and the Board. We are continually assessing the areas
of risk in the business in order to embed risk awareness within the
organisation from the Board to the most junior of care home staff.
With over 42,000 employees and an industry where staff turnover
is typically high, we know that we have to be more diligent.

Financial
In July, we lowered our expectations of full-year financial results
and have met those new targets. Indeed, in the year ended
28 September 2008 we increased Adjusted EBITDA from £66.8m
in the previous year by 16.9% to £78.1m this year. Revenue
increased by 21.5% to £889.4m. However, Home EBITDAR margin
before central costs fell slightly from 31.5% to 31.0%.

As previously announced, to conserve cash and repay debt, the
Board has decided not to pay a final dividend for the year just
ended and will also forego an interim dividend in the year just
commenced. We will review dividend policy again at the time
of the final dividend for the year ending 27 September 2009.
However, it is our intention to operate the business in the future
with a lower level of debt.

I took over as Chairman in January 2008 when Bill Colvin became
Chief Executive following Philip Scott’s departure and assumed
executive responsibility in October following Bill’s resignation.

This has been a very difficult year for Southern Cross after a
promising debut in July 2006 as a listed company. Our share price
has fallen from an average of 564p in the first quarter to an
average of 119p in the last quarter.

We have had to completely overhaul our senior management.
We ran into difficulties with our financing in July 2008 which
required us to renegotiate our facilities and which reached a
satisfactory outcome in October 2008. We have experienced some
pressure on operating performance leading to an outcome below
our original expectations but still comfortably ahead of last year;
and we have had to adjust our growth strategy to the new credit
and property markets.

New Management and Strategic Focus
Richard Midmer joined as Finance Director in July and led the
bank negotiations. Kamma Foulkes was promoted to the Board
as Operations Director, also in July, replacing John Murphy.
Jamie Buchan will join us in January 2009 as Chief Executive with
a track record of business turnaround and excellence in service
delivery and cost control in people-intensive businesses.

The mission of the new team, and the Board as a whole, is firstly
to stabilise the Group. We have already made considerable progress
with the successful negotiation of new bank facilities totalling
£166.2m. We have also concluded the sale and long-term leaseback
of 17 homes realising £62.6m which has been used to repay some
of the debt. Financial controls have been improved and management
is focused on cost control. In addition, we have adopted a more
integrated approach to management throughout the Group allowing
us to properly absorb the acquisitions that have been made.
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Keith
SERVICE USER

At Southern Cross Healthcare we operate homes that cater for a wide range
of service users in different situations, some needing greater levels of care
than others. Our broad range of homes spread throughout the country
allows us to recommend service users to the right care home for them.



Chairman’s Statement

We remain confident about the demand for our services but we are
fully alert to the financial problems of Local Authorities. Nevertheless,
we cannot compromise the care we offer to our service users by
accepting fees which are lower than the true cost of care.

In the current year, we expect occupancy levels to be similar to
last year and to follow their usual seasonal profile. Fee rates will
need to rise above inflation in order to encourage operators and
investors to build and develop the new beds that are required
to meet the impending demographic pressure.

Cost pressures from legislation, regulation and the minimum
wage will need to be recovered to encourage operators, including
ourselves, to deliver the development that is required to sustain
the quantity and quality of long-term care facilities for the future.

While remaining focused on our core residential elderly care
operations, we also intend to respond flexibly to the changing
market demand. This includes day care provision, domiciliary care
into the community and short-term or respite care as Local
Authorities seek to encourage people to stay in their own homes,
with support, for as long as practicable.

With a clear direction, a new management team, greater focus on
operational performance and continuing expansion in the market
for elderly care, we face the future with confidence.

Ray Miles Chairman

Industry
Demand for care home services remains strong notwithstanding
the development of alternative forms of care provision. Our elderly
service users are highly dependent, often very frail or have
dementia and we believe a care home offers the most holistic
support for those towards the end of their lives. Demographic
analysis indicates significant growth in demand for care home
places over the coming decade.

Furthermore, we expect that the net loss of beds in the UK market
is likely to continue. Local Authorities are reducing their in-house
care home provision in favour of purchasing care from the
independent or voluntary sector. Small independent care providers
are struggling with increasing regulation, higher costs and premises
that may no longer be suitable.

We remain committed to the provision of a safe and secure
environment for people who would be vulnerable and isolated
in their own homes and believe care homes will remain the best
option for those who are physically less able or otherwise in need
of substantial care.

Our People
We have over 42,000 staff nearly all working in our 735 homes
across the UK. They are the core of our business and it is their
dedication in often demanding circumstances that makes our Group
successful. The Board is hugely grateful for their commitment to
service delivery and high, but still improving, standards of care.
Our operational management team has also stayed the course when
it would have been easy for them to have been diverted and there
are many who can be proud of their achievements this last year.

Outlook
We consider that the fees paid by many Local Authorities do not,
currently, meet the generally accepted true cost of care. Through
Scottish Care, Care Forum Wales and The English Community Care
Association, Southern Cross continues to actively campaign to
persuade Local Authorities to meet the true cost of care. Progress
has been made in Wales and Scotland, less so with most English
Local Authorities.
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Quality of care is the foundation of Southern Cross’ business and
the Group continues to strive to achieve positive life choices and
outcomes for all its service users. None of this would be possible
without the continued hard work and commitment shown by
the Group’s dedicated staff and the Board would like to extend
its gratitude to every one of them.

New Home Developments
Three new homes have been built, commissioned and registered
during the year.

There are a further six homes under construction which will be
completed in 2008/09, four in Q1 and two in Q2. These will provide
a further 465 beds. The Group has committed to a further 616 beds
on an agreement to lease basis.

Opening new homes, in addition to maximising organic growth
opportunities, will remain part of the Group’s growth strategy.
In the main these are expected to be built by third parties with
construction partners and then acquired at practical completion,
directly by the Group or by a nominated landlord who in turn
grants a lease to Southern Cross.

Branding
Southern Cross Healthcare
Southern Cross Healthcare remains the principal elderly care brand
and now provides services through 593 homes with 31,490 beds.
This service is primarily funded by Local Authorities and provides
care to service users who are very dependent with 24-hour nursing
needs. This service also provides social care to service users who
may be frail or have an early dementia.

The Southern Cross brand generated revenue of £718.8m in the year
(2007 – £588.5m) and achieved an average weekly fee of £500
(2007 – £477). Home EBITDAR before central costs was £220.5m
(2007 – £177.5m), a margin on sales of 30.7% (2007 – 30.2%).

Ashbourne Senior Living
This brand within the Group provides a service which is aimed
towards the self-funded market. This year the branding programme
has continued, and a further twelve care homes have been
re-positioned. It is anticipated that the total of 91 homes with 4,855
beds at the year end will increase to approximately 110 during
2008/09. This will be achieved through re-branding of existing
suitable care homes and the integration of new developments into
this brand.

Overview
There has been an increase in bed capacity of 9.1% during the year,
with a net 62 homes and 3,121 beds being added to the Group.
At the year end the Group operated 735 homes and 37,425 beds.

During the year the Group succeeded in selling over £181.9m
of real estate and entered into direct tenancy arrangements with
vendors for total starting rents of approximately £11.6m.

Although Southern Cross has grown significantly, the Group still has
just an 8% market share and believes that the UK market continues
to present an attractive opportunity for consolidation. Professional,
well resourced, reputable operators such as Southern Cross are
expected to lead this consolidation phase over the coming years as
small providers face the many economic barriers that prevent them
from meeting the increasingly stringent quality standards demanded.

Expansion of Portfolio
As detailed in the table, bed numbers have increased from
34,304 at 1 October 2007 to 37,425 at the year end, an increase
in capacity of 9.1%. This has been achieved through acquisitions
and a number of smaller bolt-on transactions.

Number of available beds
Number

of homes Acquired Developed Total

As at 1 October 2007 712 36,215
Managed for third parties 39 1,911
Leased/owned 673 34,304

Homes previously managed
for third parties 39 1,911 1,911
New developments opened 3 213 213
Acquisitions 20 997 997

As at 28 September 2008 735 2,908 213 37,425

Operational Review
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Operational Review

H1 H2 Total
2008 2008 2008
£’m £’m £’m

Revenue 431.2 458.2 889.4
Home EBITDAR before central costs 129.1 146.6 275.7
Margin % 29.9% 32.0% 31.0%
Rent – charge for amounts
currently payable 84.3 86.8 171.1
Rent cover – times 1.53 1.69 1.61
Adjusted EBITDA 30.8 47.3 78.1
Adjusted EBITDA profile 39.4% 60.6% 100%

Occupancy
Average occupancy rate during the year was 89.5% across the
Group, reflecting the number of new beds opened during the
year and subsequent occupancy build-up period. Private residents
accounted for 19.6% (2007 – 19.1%) of the Group’s occupied
beds during the year. Excluding immature beds (newly developed
homes or refurbished homes that have been trading for less than
12 months), the mature occupancy rate was 90.5%, 0.6% lower
than the previous year.

There was a clear delay in Local Authorities releasing funds at the
start of their financial year in April and the increase in referrals
which typically occurs in April did not materialise until late May
and June 2008. Referrals for care home placements also evidenced
a considerable increase in dependency and thus a consequential
reduction in average length of stay. There was a limited opportunity
to reduce costs, at that time, without compromising the quality
of care provision.

The average fees within the Ashbourne Senior Living homes are
15% above the average fees charged within Southern Cross branded
homes. In 2008 this was £572 (2007 – £547) and Ashbourne Senior
Living generated revenue of £125.9m (2007 – £105.0m) and Home
EBITDAR before central costs of £44.3m (2007 – £41.6m), a margin
on sales of 35.2% (2007 – 39.6%). The dilution in margin is due
to new Ashbourne Senior Living homes opening during the year
building up to maturity.

Active Care
The Group’s specialist business remains small compared to its
elderly care business. However, with 51 homes and 1,080 beds
at the year end, it is the fourth largest independent mental health
and learning disability care operator in the UK.

This year three small learning disability homes in Dorset have joined
the portfolio – Bramble Gate, Touchwood and Principle House with
four, five and six rooms respectively. In addition, three care centres
in Shropshire, Oswestry and Newbiggin with a total of 80 beds
were also added to the portfolio.

Active Care generated revenue of £44.7m (2007 – £38.4m)
and achieved average weekly fees of £952 (2007 – £912).
Home EBITDAR before central costs was £10.9m (2007 – £11.1m),
a margin on sales of 24.4% (2007 – 28.9%). The deterioration
in margin relates to the full integration of homes and increases
in payroll costs on a per resident basis.

The performance of this brand has not met the Group’s
expectations and is under management review.

Operational Highlights
There has been a normal seasonal trading pattern during the year.
This is driven by the timing of pay reviews and fee reviews during
the financial year and expected lower occupancy rates during the
winter period. This is highlighted in the analysis following:
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Lisa
ACTIVITIES CO-ORDINATOR

At Southern Cross Healthcare we know it’s important to care for more
than physical and psychological needs. We provide a wide range of
extra curricular and recreational activities such as daytrips, arts and crafts,
quizzes and community visits led by activities co-ordinators like Lisa.



Operational Review

Southern Cross has continued with its strategy to minimise reliance
on agency staff. The control of agency usage has been assisted
predominantly by migrant workers from the European Economic
Area (“EEA”). The Group finds these employees to be very hard
working, caring individuals with excellent English language skills.

During 2007 there were difficulties with renewing work permits for
non-EEA staff, due to the Border and Immigration Authority (“BIA”)
changing the qualifying criteria without any form of consultation
with care home operators. This meant that many workers who had
settled in the UK with long-term employment prospects faced
deportation unless paid £7.02 per hour which was the basis for
work permit renewal.

This rate of pay, in the short term, was not sustainable within fees
currently paid by Local Authorities. In August 2008 the Migration
Advisory Committee (MAC) proposed an even higher rate of
£8.80 for 2009, which is scheduled for further review by MAC
during 2009. This would further impact heavily on care home
operators and is not sustainable for the sector.

In light of the above, Southern Cross has adjusted its strategy from
one of overseas recruitment to one of overseas training. Upon
commencement of a National Vocational Qualification, staff would
then be able to work and stay in the UK for a period of two years.
Upon completion, they could then apply for team leader positions
commanding the rate of pay to meet the BIA qualifying criteria.

Fee Rates
Group average weekly fee rates for the year have increased by
4.6% to £522 per week (2007 – £499 per week). Increases in
Local Authority payments during the year were as follows; England
– 3.0%, Scotland – 4.2% and Wales – 5.1%, whilst increases in
respect of private residents averaged 5.8% for the year.

In terms of private fees, the net threshold for self-funding eligibility
is currently set at less than £22,250 capital assets (not Scotland)
and it is believed that an increasing number of clients will have
to fund their own care over the next few years as property
ownership continues to rise among the older generation who are
at risk of requiring long-term care.

Personnel, Staff and Payroll Costs
Staff remain key to Southern Cross’ business, and their hard work
and delivery of quality care is highly valued by service users and
their families. Their dedicated support has enabled the Group
to continue to build market share as the UK market leader.

The impact of national minimum wage (“NMW”) and working time
directive (“WTD”) legislation was borne by operators in October
2007, increasing costs by approximately 4.8%, 3.2% of which is
from the increase in the headline rate of minimum wage and 1.6%
from the additional four days’ holiday entitlement under the WTD.

This year the NMW and WTD have further increased costs by 3.8%
and 1.6% respectively. The overall increase in staff costs for the
Group was 4.4%.

Southern Cross continues to work with the GMB as part of the
second phase of a two year agreement on pay and has retained
rates above NMW for all staff groups. An increase in annual leave
entitlement was initiated in October 2008 prior to the timescale
set by the WTD of April 2009. In addition, pay differentials were
honoured and staff who achieved National Vocational Qualifications
were rewarded. The Pay and Reward package has represented
a total increase in excess of 9.5% over the two years.
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Whilst the past 12 months have been challenging for the business,
the Group has continued to add beds both through acquisitions and,
to a lesser extent, the development of new homes.

of homes that have been in the Group for the entire year,
the increase in average weekly fee equates to £38m of revenue.

Home Operating Costs
Home payroll costs increased from £409.0m to £500.6m, of which
£66.2m was a result of a higher number of beds being occupied
during the year. On an average per available bed basis, home
payroll costs were £13,668 per annum, compared to £13,154
during 2007. The 3.9% increase in payroll costs on a per available
bed basis is attributable to increases of 3.8% in the National
Minimum Wage, which directly impacts approximately 50% of
staff and an increase of 1.6% in annual leave entitlement set by
the Working Time Directive which impacts the majority of staff.
Staff not directly impacted by the National Minimum Wage received
pay rises below 3.8%.

Home running costs for the current year have remained at 12.7%
of revenue.

Rent
The rent charge for the year amounted to £221.6m (2007 – £182.4m).
Excluding the non-cash charge of £50.5m (2007 – £43.5m)
under IAS 17, for leases with fixed or minimum annual increases,
the rental charge for the year was £171.1m (2007 – £138.9m),
an increase of 23.2% and giving a rent cover of Home EBITDAR
before central costs to cash rent of 1.61 times (2007 – 1.66 times).
The increase in rental charge is consistent with the growth in
operational size of the Group.

The cash rental charge per average available bed for the year was
£4,672 per annum (2007 – £4,467), an increase of 4.6% compared
to 2007. This increase reflects the impact of the higher rents being
paid under leases entered into recently. Excluding the impact of
new leases entered into during the last two years, the cash rental
charge per available bed increased by 2.7% on the prior year.

Central Costs
Total central costs for the year amounted to £26.5m, an increase
of £0.5m over 2007. As a percentage of revenue, central costs
decreased from 3.6% in 2007 to 3.0% in 2008, reflecting
economies of scale achieved during the year.

Revenue Statement
The Group’s operating performance is summarised in the
following table:

2008 2007 Growth
£’m £’m %

Revenue 889.4 731.9 21.5
Home EBITDAR 275.7 230.2 19.8
Home EBITDAR margin (%) 31.0 31.5 –
Adjusted EBITDA1 78.1 66.8 16.9
Operating (loss)/income (5.2) 11.9 –
(Loss)/profit before taxation (22.9) 3.0 –
Average number of available beds 36,626 31,093 17.8
Cash generated from
operating activities 71.4 70.3 1.6

1 Adjusted EBITDA before charge for future minimum rental increases.

Revenue
During the year, the Group continued with its growth strategy
increasing the number of available beds by 3,121 to 37,425, an
increase in capacity of 9.1%. The growth was primarily through
acquisition activity with 2,908 beds added. The significant acquisitions
completed in the year were Bondcare with 1,911 beds and
Portland with 496 beds (including 110 daycare beds). In addition,
a further three care homes with 213 beds from the Group’s organic
development pipeline were opened during the year.

The average number of available beds increased by 5,533 (17.8%)
during the year from 31,093 in 2007 to 36,626.

Revenue increased by £157.5m from £731.9m in 2007 to £889.4m.
The key drivers of revenue growth were acquisitions completed
during the year, the full-year impact of acquisitions completed
in the prior year and fee rate increases achieved. Acquisitions
completed in the current year contributed £51.7m of revenue,
whilst the full-year impact of acquisitions completed in the prior
year and associated fee rate increases accounted for a further
£105.8m of revenue.

Across the Group’s entire portfolio, the average weekly fee
increased 4.6% from £499 to £522. During the year, in respect

Financial Review
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Sam
CHEF

We take dietary needs very seriously. Good nutrition can be an essential
component of good health, and many of our care homes feature dedicated
chefs who prepare service users’ meals (and chefs like Sam are known
to rustle up a chocolate cake every now and then too).



During the year, revenues in the Specialist segment increased by
16.4% to £44.7m (2007 – £38.4m). Acquisitions completed during
the year contributed £2.6m of revenue, whilst underlying growth
within the portfolio contributed additional revenues of £3.7m and
the average weekly fee increased by 4.4% to £952.

Due to higher payroll costs, on a per resident basis, Home EBITDAR
before central costs for the year decreased from £11.1m to £10.9m
and operating margin fell from 28.9% to 24.4%.

EBITDA
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation of
goodwill (“EBITDA”) for the Group increased by £4.3m (18.5%)
to £27.6m. Excluding the impact for future minimum rental
increases under IAS 17, Adjusted EBITDA increased by £11.3m
(16.9%) to £78.1m.

Depreciation
Depreciation has increased from £13.2m in 2007 to £17.6m in the
current year, reflecting the increased number of homes operated
by the Group and higher spend incurred during the year as the
Group continues to invest to improve the quality of its homes.

Loss on Freehold Assets
The impact of holding freehold property during a period of falling
prices is reflected in the Group’s results in two ways. First, a loss
on disposal of £9.3m has been recognised after £60.9m of freehold
properties were sold for £51.6m in August and September; the
loss was primarily due to the disposal of the Portland portfolio of
homes. Second, the Directors have reviewed the carrying values
of all freehold properties held for resale and this has resulted in an
impairment charge of £4.5m being recognised, reducing the value
of freehold assets held for resale from £40.6m to £36.1m.

Following the losses recognised in respect of disposed freehold
properties, the Group’s operating result has decreased by £17.1m,
resulting in an operating loss for the year totalling £5.2m.

Finance Income and Costs
The net financing costs for the year amounted to £17.7m
(2007 – £8.9m). Interest charges of £10.0m (2007 – £7.4m)
relate to interest payable on bank borrowings. The higher charge

Segmental Results
The Group continued to have two distinct segments within its
operations, namely Elderly Care (which incorporates the Southern
Cross Healthcare and Ashbourne Senior Living brands) and Specialist
(being the Active Care Partnership business).

Elderly Care
Growth through acquisitions over the year was predominantly
within the Elderly Care segment. Average available beds increased
by 5,435 beds to 35,587 (2007 – 30,152). The total number of
available beds operated by the Group within the Elderly Care
portfolio at the year end was 36,345 beds (2007 – 33,323 beds).

Fee revenue in the Elderly Care segment increased by £151.2m
to £844.7m for the year. The increase was due to acquisitions
completed during the year, the full-year impact of acquisitions
completed in the prior year and fee rate increases achieved.
Acquisitions completed during the year delivered revenues of
£49.1m during the year, whilst the full-year impact of acquisitions
completed in the prior year, together with associated fee rate
increases, added a further £102.1m of revenue.

Across the Elderly Care portfolio the average weekly fee increased
4.7% from £487 to £510. Excluding the impact of acquisitions made
during the year the average weekly fee, on a continuing basis,
increased 5.1% from £487 to £512 and equates to £37m of revenues.

Total Home EBITDAR before central costs increased by £45.7m
to £264.8m, the impact of acquisitions in the year being £13.2m.
Excluding the impact of acquisitions in the current year, total
Home EBITDAR increased by £32.5m, being a 14.8% increase.
Home EBITDAR before central costs of Elderly Care decreased
from 31.6% to 31.3%. The comparable margin for acquisitions
in the year was behind that of the Group margin at 26.9%.

Specialist Care
The Specialist segment also recorded an increase in average
available beds, from 941 beds in 2007 to 1,039 beds. The total
number of available beds at the year end was 1,080 (2007 – 981),
an increase of 10.1%. Average occupancy during the year in
Specialist Care increased from 86.1% to 86.9%.

Financial Review
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Financial Review

freehold properties and impairment charges, adjusted earnings per
share was 19.60p (2007 – 19.04p).

Balance Sheet

Non-current Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment increased from £95.5m to £121.3m,
largely due to fixtures, fittings and equipment additions of £29.3m,
offset by depreciation charges of £15.8m. Expenditure on the
Group’s seven developments under construction totalled £16.1m,
whilst during the year £8.8m of assets under construction were
either transferred or divested, giving a net increase of £7.3m.

Goodwill
Goodwill increased by £9.7m due to the acquisition of Portland
(£5.2m), the acquisition of Bondcare (£2.6m) and other acquisitions
totalling £1.9m.

Deferred Tax
Deferred tax assets increased by £16.1m from £25.1m to £41.2m
and relate primarily to deferred tax assets recognised in relation
to the accelerated charge for future minimum lease payments
in accordance with IAS 17.

Property Assets Held for Sale
At the start of the current year, the Group held property assets
for sale of £141.0m. In respect of these, asset disposals totalling
£116.3m were made during the first quarter of the year, with a
further £14.0m divested during the second quarter.

In the year under review, the Group acquired and developed a
further £83.1m (net of impairment charges) of freehold assets held
for resale and during August and September divested of £55.7m of
freehold properties for a net cash consideration of £47.5m, resulting
in a loss on divestment of £8.2m. The divestments also included the
sale of one home under construction for £4.1m, resulting in a loss
on divestment of £1.1m.

The property assets held for sale at the year end relate to 11
freehold properties amounting to £36.1m. The Group is actively
seeking landlords for all the freehold properties held for resale.

is due to higher rates of interest being charged on borrowings and
average levels of debt held by the Group being 7% higher than
2007. Also included are costs totalling £6.9m in relation to loan
arrangement fees and associated costs incurred by the Group as a
result of renegotiating its banking facilities following the failure to
repay a loan in June 2008 which would have caused a breach of its
banking facilities. Interest receivable during the year was £0.4m
(2007 – £1.3m).

Taxation
The tax credit on earnings before taxation of £4.9m (2007 – £1.1m
charge) represents a headline rate of 21.4% (2007 – 36.7%). Both
the current and deferred tax charge is significantly impacted by
£14.2m (2007 – £10.9m) relating to the future tax benefit of the
additional rental charge under IAS 17. Furthermore, the current year
tax charge is impacted by the loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment of £9.6m, impairment charges of £4.5m and
amortisation charges of £1.1m.

After consideration of the above items, the current tax charge of
£11.1m represents an effective tax rate of 25.8% (2007 – 26.4%)
before charges for future minimum rental increases, losses on
disposal, impairment charges and amortisation.

The Group expects the effective future tax rate to remain at or
slightly below the standard rate of corporation tax.

Dividends
Total dividends paid during the year amounted to £16.5m (2007 –
£6.8m), being the £9.4m (5p per ordinary share) dividend proposed
at the end of the last financial year and paid in the current year,
plus an interim dividend of £7.1m (3.75p per ordinary share) for
the current financial year. As previously announced the Directors
have decided not to recommend a final dividend for the year
ended 28 September 2008.

Loss per Share
The loss per share for the year was 9.57p (2007 – earnings 0.96p).
Adjusted earnings per share for the year before future minimum
rental increase charges, loan arrangement fees written off and the
taxation impact thereof, was 12.10p (2007 – 19.04p), a decrease
of 36.4%. Excluding the impact of losses recognised in respect of
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representing capital expenditure on the Group’s portfolio of homes.
The Group received amounts in respect of capital grants totalling
£2.5m in the year.

The net cash outflow from financing for the year amounted to
£127.0m (2007 – £25.4m). Excluding dividends paid during the
year of £16.5m (2007 – £6.8m), the net outflow for the year was
£110.5m and included net repayment of bank borrowings totalling
£99.6m and repayment of loan notes of £10.3m. The loan notes
repaid primarily related to loan notes issued upon the acquisition
of Avery in the prior year.

Net Debt
During the year the Group’s net debt has reduced by £74.4m
from £171.9m to £97.5m. Bank borrowings have reduced by a net
£77.7m during the year. Included within the net repayments are
scheduled repayments of term loans totalling £6m. Loans drawn
to fund acquisitions under the acquisition facilities totalled £99.9m.
Repayments made from disposals of freehold properties and
scheduled loan amortisations under the acquisition facilities
amounted to £186.0m. The net draw downs during the year under
the development facility and revolving credit facility were £8.4m
and £6.0m respectively.

Loan note repayments totalled £10.3m, whilst repayments under
finance leases were £0.6m.

In addition to the net draw down of £6.0m made under the
revolving credit facility, the Group has also used the revolving credit
facility to issue £10.1m of guarantees, primarily relating to landlord
rent deposits. As at the year end, the Group had just under a year
remaining of a three-year interest rate swap for £30.0m, at a fixed
rate of 5.09%.

Financing
Facilities
During the year the Group had a syndicated term facility, a
syndicated revolving credit facility for the purpose of managing
working capital, a bilateral development facility for financing the
Group’s own development programme and two syndicated credit
facilities specifically for the purpose of funding acquisitions.

Subsequent to the year end the Group has sold the Torrwood care
centre for a cash consideration of £7.8m, which is equal to the
asset’s carrying value.

Cash Flow
2008 2007

£’m £’m

Cash flows from operations 71.4 70.3
Net interest and taxation (21.8) (13.4)
Investing activities 64.7 (38.5)
Financing activities (127.0) (25.4)

Net decrease in cash (12.7) (7.0)

Cash inflow from operations was £71.4m (2007 – £70.3m),
representing a cash conversion ratio compared to Adjusted EBITDA
of 91.4% (2007 – 105.2%).

Finance charges paid during the year amounted to £11.5m
(2007 – £9.5m) and included £2.5m relating to arrangement fees.
The remaining payments related to standard charges incurred in
accordance with the Group’s banking facilities. Tax payments made
during the year totalled £10.6m (2007 – £4.3m).

Net cash inflow from investing activities amounted to £64.7m (2007
– £38.5m outflow). Included within net cash inflow from investing
activities are the purchase of subsidiary undertakings of £55.2m,
purchase of property, plant and equipment totalling £62.0m,
receipts from the sale of subsidiary undertakings of £130.3m and
receipts from the sale of property, plant and equipment of £51.6m.

The Group invested £55.2m in new subsidiaries, of which £40.4m
related to Portland. Disposal proceeds relating to the disposal
of subsidiary undertakings amounted to £130.3m and included
£94.8m in respect of the Avery portfolio of freeholds, £21.5m in
respect of the Dolphin portfolio and £14.0m in relation to Belmont,
all of which were held on the balance sheet at the prior year end.
Receipts from the sale of property, plant and equipment related to
16 freehold properties disposed of in August and September, at a
book loss of £9.3m.

Purchase of plant, property and equipment totals £62.0m and
includes £25.0m of development expenditure and £30.3m
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Lynn
SERVICE USER

Different service users have different needs that sometimes go beyond
the reasons they have for receiving residential care. When Lynn’s manager
discovered her sister lived close by our Manor House home, we arranged for
her to be transferred to that home so that she could be nearer her family.



The revolving credit facility of £36m finances the Group’s working
capital and the amount of this facility, which is available up to
30 June 2011, remains unchanged. In addition to this, a £12m
seasonal revolving credit facility has been put in place to cover
the period from 22 December 2008 to 22 February 2009 to meet
the Group’s expected seasonal working capital requirements during
the Christmas and New Year period.

At the year end the Group had borrowings under the acquisition
facilities of £33.4m. Following the transfer of £14m to the term loan,
the acquisition facilities have now been combined and replaced
by one bridging loan totalling £19.4m. The bridging loan, which is
due for final repayment on 30 June 2010, will be repaid from the
proceeds of further freehold divestments during the term of the loan.

In addition, the Group’s development facility, which is in place to
fund the Group’s development programme, remains unchanged.
It was drawn to £13.6m at the year end and may be drawn to a
maximum of £28.8m. The development facility will continue to be
utilised and drawn for the purpose of financing the Group’s own
development programme.

A revised covenant package has been agreed as part of the
refinancing, based on the Group achieving a minimum Adjusted
EBITDA of £70m for the financial year to 27 September 2009.
The Group’s Adjusted EBITDA used for covenant purposes will
exclude any rentals associated with freehold disposals made
during the year to 27 September 2009.

Interest on the new facilities will be charged at margins between
2.75% and 3.25% above LIBOR.

The banking facilities are considered to be sufficient for the Group’s
medium-term needs.

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
As a listed Group, the financial statements continue to be prepared in
accordance with applicable IFRSs. There have not been any changes
to IFRSs which have had a significant effect upon the financial
statements for the 52 week period ended 28 September 2008.

One of the acquisition facilities, originally drawn to £46.0m,
was due for repayment on 30 June 2008. It was intended that the
property assets funded by this facility would have been sold prior
to this date and the loan repaid. The assets remained unsold at
30 June 2008 and the Group was unable to repay the associated
loans as they fell due. Accordingly, the Group’s syndicated lenders
granted an extension to the repayment date and a waiver on
the related financial covenants until 28 July 2008. A subsequent
extension and waiver was granted up until 30 October 2008.

Due to the non-payment of an acquisition facility due on 30 June
2008, totalling £46.0m, the bank was contractually entitled to request
early repayment on all credit facilities. As such, loans outstanding
of £96.7m have been classified as due within one year.

Following the divestment of 16 freehold properties on 29 August
2008 and 4 September 2008 for a total consideration of £51.8m
together with scheduled amortisations, the borrowings under the
acquisition facilities were reduced to £33.4m as at the year end.

Covenants
The Group’s syndicated credit facilities are subject to various
financial covenant clauses, whereby the Group is required to meet
certain key financial performance indicators. One such indicator
is a net debt to EBITDA ratio. As a result of delays in the sale of
various acquired freehold properties, the Group was unable to
satisfy the net debt to EBITDA financial covenant as at 6 July 2008
and 28 September 2008. As noted above, the Group’s syndicated
lenders granted waivers to these financial covenants.

Renegotiated Banking Facilities
Negotiations with the Group’s banking syndicate were concluded
in October 2008 which increased the facilities available to the
Group to £166.2m. The key terms of the renegotiated facilities
are given below.

The Term loan A has been increased to £70m. This consists of the
original £48m term loan facility, £14m transferred from a previous
acquisition facility (representing the shortfall in proceeds from the
sale of the Portland portfolio), and an £8m increase in the funds
available to the Group. The final repayment date is 30 June 2011,
with the first amortisation payment of £5m due on 31 March 2009.

Financial Review
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Quality Assurance and Social Responsibility

The Directors of Southern Cross take the issues of quality and
regulation very seriously. During the year a Quality Assurance
Committee, under the Chairmanship of Baroness Morgan of Huyton,
was established.

2007/2008

This year, based on 735 homes, the Group has made considerable
progress in reducing the number of “poor” services. Southern Cross’
strategy continues to be to further reduce the “Red” services over
the next 12 months.

The Board reviews the status of inspection quality ratings at each
meeting. It acknowledges that, from time to time, individual homes
can experience problems. Where a home has not scored well
(either through internal audit or external inspection), a review takes
place by the operational teams and an action plan is implemented
with delivery timescales to ensure issues are addressed effectively.

Best Practice in Operation
Southern Cross is committed to developing and implementing best
practice in its care services. This is demonstrated through evidence
based clinical policies and procedures. The Group also believes that,
as the largest provider of nursing and residential care in the UK,
it should take an active role in developing that evidence base. That
is what the Practice, Education, Ethics and Research Group, or PEER
Group exists to do.

The PEER group considers applications for research from both
internal and external bodies. The Group has representation from
a cross section of employees, external professionals and healthcare
researchers but, most importantly, members are also drawn from
the Group’s service users and their families. This way, the Group
is able to safeguard the interests of our service users whilst
encouraging and maintaining an active role in research. Some of
the projects approved this year include:

Care Standards and Service Quality
The Group’s aim is to provide a high level of care and service
delivery to its service users. There is a strong focus on quality of care
in each home. This year the Group has reviewed and amended
some policies and procedures, to ensure that they are research
based and in line with current best practice.

Southern Cross has a Quality Assurance Department to ensure its
policies meet the requirements of ISO 9001 prior to them being
available on the Intranet. This year the department had the
objective of increasing the number of care services that are ISO
9001 compliant from 175 to 197. This objective was exceeded
and a further 25 will be accredited by July 2009.

In order to ensure that care service standards are maintained, a
monthly audit is undertaken at each home. This year a further audit
tool has been developed which, when used with the existing tool
on alternate months, provides an improved overall view of whether
the home is delivering positive outcomes for service users.

The Group’s internal audits are supplemented with external
inspection by regulators in England, Scotland, Northern Ireland and
Wales. The inspection reports are public documents and provide
valuable information for potential service users, their families and
for potential employees.

2006/2007

The 2006/2007 results were based on 712 homes.
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The Group believes in an open culture for communicating both
positives and negatives. The incidence of all complaints is monitored,
along with their nature and the time taken for a thorough response
to be issued. The Group continues to monitor this closely and can
confirm that complaints are at an average of just over 3% of total
bed numbers this year.

As part of its inclusive culture, Southern Cross has a zero tolerance
of any form of abuse. In 2008 the Group joined a ground breaking
pilot initiative with the charity “Action on Elder Abuse” to establish
a whistleblowing helpline. In 2009 this independent helpline,
manned by the charity, will be extended throughout the UK. The
helpline will be available to all stakeholders involved with Southern
Cross’ care services and will be a confidential resource for anyone
suspecting abuse or inappropriateness in any of the Group’s homes.

In addition, Southern Cross fully embraces the ethos behind
the Department of Health’s “Dignity in Care Campaign” with each
care centre appointing a Dignity Champion supported by a team
of Regional Safeguarding Champions. A full training programme
is in place and has been positively received by all teams.

These initiatives demonstrate the Group’s continued commitment
to providing the best quality of service it can to people in its care
and encouraging as open and transparent a culture as possible.

Workplace
Southern Cross sees diversity as an opportunity to maximise the
potential of all staff and service users. Through understanding and
respecting all people involved in its service, the Group is able
to reflect its customers’ needs and to attract and retain motivated
staff from an array of cultures and backgrounds.

As part of this commitment the Group has improved its Diversity
Policy this year, which is clearly displayed in each care service
to confirm the importance of diversity in the workplace.

� The subjective experience of quality of life of individuals
with dementia;

� Provision of health and social care for minority ethnic
older people;

� Impact of occupational therapy intervention on older people
with dementia; and

� Impact of aromatherapy on Alzheimer’s disease.

Customers
Early this year Southern Cross commissioned an external agency
to hold qualitative group meetings and individual interviews with
service users, families and professionals to establish the drivers
of satisfaction. The common key areas included, catering, laundry,
the provision of activities, the environment and staff attitude.

Based on their findings, satisfaction surveys were developed and
an internal “stand alone” customer satisfaction department set up
to operate under strict market research principles. This department
sits outside the operational structure and, in the first five months of
the programme, randomly selected 48 care homes to survey.

% satisfied Target for
Audience 2007/2008* 2008/2009

Service users 87% 90%
Relatives 90% 91%
Professionals 86% 89%

* Figures as at 28 September 2008. Based on survey of 48 homes with 637, 413
and 197 responses from service users, relatives and professionals respectively.

Southern Cross is committed to customer service and believes that
sustainable growth is only possible by putting the customer at the
heart of everything we do. We have agreed that the targets shown
above are realistic and each care service receives full feedback so
that it is able to either take appropriate corrective action or share
positive comments with staff.
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Cecilia
CARE ASSISTANT

We pride ourselves on offering a high level of care to all our service users.
Where our service users have specific health needs we employ highly
trained practitioners, and we have a wide range of other support staff
like Cecilia to provide the best possible care.



This year the Group intends to survey its home managers and
further identify what is being done well and what can be improved
from their perspective.

Staff Recognition
In March 2008 the Group celebrated the first ever Southern Cross
Care Awards. These bi-annual awards will recognise and celebrate
excellence among staff across the country. Nominations for this
first event were received from service users, relatives, colleagues
and professionals.

Regional Care Awards were held throughout the UK where all
regional nominations were considered and judged by a panel
of internal and external stakeholders. Panellists included Local
Councillors, Doctors and representatives from voluntary groups such
as the Alzheimer’s Society and Age Concern. The finalists attended an
Awards Ceremony held in Blackpool attended by over 150 people.

The Group is proud and honoured to announce Mr Terry Lillico,
Manager of Coniscliffe Care Centre in Jesmond, as the overall
winner of the Grand Prix Award.

Staff Training
Target for

Measure 2006/2007 2007/2008 2008/2009

% of carers with NVQ level 2 55% 74% 75%
% of managers with Registered
Manager Award 52% 62% 70%

Southern Cross is committed to the continued development and
training of its caring workforce. In 2008 the Group’s training
programmes were externally validated and then accredited by
the Northern Council for Further Education. The materials included
interactive training DVDs on key subjects. These programmes
are available in all of the Group’s care services and are valuable
training resources for care centre managers to regularly up-skill
their staff team.

The Group continues to operate an equal opportunities policy to
ensure there is no discrimination against applicants on the grounds
of age, gender, disability, religion, religious belief, sexual orientation
and race, or for any other reason. In an increasingly diverse world
it is critical that equal opportunities are embedded in the day to day
running of Southern Cross.

This year the Group intends to further improve its methods for the
collection, collation and analysis of diversity data.

Key staff information

Measure 2006/2007 2007/2008

Staff numbers 41,344 42,845
% of workforce female 83.8% 83.9%
% of senior management female 66% 68%
% of workforce from non-EU countries 8.2% 8.5%
Average age of employees 39 40

Staff Engagement
The Group fully appreciates that its performance is affected by
the way it views employees. Southern Cross is a people orientated
business and relies on its committed team to deliver its vision
of care.

The Group intends, over a three-year period, to survey, through
questionnaires, all staff. This year the survey commenced with
a review of staff working within our central offices. This was
undertaken by an external agency.

The survey found that the majority of staff were clear as to their
job responsibilities and felt sufficiently skilled. In addition, comments
regarding line management and support were largely favourable.
However, some comments were received relating to training
requirements and the need for the Group to improve a true sense
of group belonging. These constructive comments have been
incorporated in the Human Resource strategy for this year.

Quality Assurance and Social Responsibility

Southern Cross Healthcare Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2008 21



Quality Assurance and Social Responsibility

Further communication aids include “The Weekly Briefing” which
includes Hazard Alerts, guidance on areas of best practice and
changes to policy. Hazard Alerts are also emailed directly to the
care services. In addition, a quarterly newsletter confirms recent
initiatives so that staff and service users are well informed.

521 home managers have this year completed a three-day
Health and Safety Training Programme.

Southern Cross values the wellbeing of its staff and this year
commenced an analysis relating to sickness absence. This shows
approximately eight days absence per employee per year. This year,
we will continue to review this and identify ways in which to reduce
this figure, but will also analyse days lost through “stress”.

Members of the senior management team will attend training
in Health and Safety as part of the leadership in Health and Safety
strategy this year.

In 2007/2008 the Group recruited 187 apprentices, including staff
recruited through an in-house apprenticeship scheme developed
this year. The objective of the scheme is to offer careers for school
leavers in key areas. The scheme is initially focusing on areas where
the Group has traditionally found recruitment to be challenging.

Southern Cross also joined other leading companies to renew
its commitment to the “Skills Pledge” – making the public
commitment to supporting staff in developing basic literacy and
numeracy skills.

Health and Safety
The Group’s aim is to provide an injury-free working and home
environment for everyone. This year the Group’s Health and Safety
organisation and arrangements were reviewed in order to confirm
the commitment and leadership provided by the Board of Directors.

The Chief Executive has overall responsibility and has appointed a
“link Board Director” to lead the policy development and ensure that
health and safety remains on the agenda at each Board meeting.

The Senior Executive Team, which includes amongst others, the
Group Operations Directors, Managing Directors, Human Resources
Director and the Estates and Facilities Director, ensures policy is
implemented and measures performance.

The Group Health and Safety Committee meets at least quarterly.
The minutes are cascaded down through the operational structure
to each care service. These form part of the home Health and Safety
Group agenda and any issues arising for the attention of the Group
Health and Safety Committee are passed back up the operational
structure. This enables a full circle of clear communication within
the Group.

22 Southern Cross Healthcare Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2008



The Group’s CSR Committee, chaired by Kamma Foulkes,
is responsible for leading the strategy in respect of CSR.
There is an active approach to CSR which is embraced
by the executive team. The approach was recognised
when the Group was selected in March 2008 for
inclusion in the FTSE4 Good Index.

The Group’s support of national fund raising activities also
continues. At the end of 2007 the Group extended its existing
sponsorship arrangement with Everton Football Club for a further
three years. This money will fund an “Everton in the Community”
coach to provide coaching sessions in schools in Liverpool for
disadvantaged children. As part of the partnership arrangement
this year Southern Cross also provided a mini bus to the club’s
Disability Programme.

As mentioned before, Southern Cross continues to work in
partnership with the charity Action on Elder Abuse. This year
through the support of both local and national events the Group
donated £45,522.

The Environment
As a responsible business Southern Cross is committed to working
towards environmental best practice. This is achieved through a
combination of improved working practices, enhanced staff awareness
and an ongoing commitment to the pursuit of energy improvements.

This year measures were put in place to accurately measure our
impact on the environment. These measures will create benchmarks
moving forward. Particular focus includes the monitoring of

� Electricity
� Gas
� Liquid Petroleum Gas
� Heating Oil
� Transport
� Waste
� Water

Community
The Group’s care services continue to be an integral part of
the communities that they serve. In 2008 the Group commenced
a number of programmes to assist the care services cement
these relationships further and make a real difference to their
local community.

A local sports kit sponsorship initiative has been introduced this year
on a nationwide basis to schools and youth groups. The objectives
of this scheme are two-fold – firstly to encourage the development
of sport among children and, secondly, to bring the community into
the Group’s care services and service users into the community.

Fund raising is a constant theme in the Group’s care services and
is supported in a number of ways. At a local level, from May 2008,
an arrangement has been put in place whereby the Company
matches funds raised for the benefit of its service users.

2007/2008 2008/2009
No of No of

teams/homes teams/homes
Programme Supported* Supported

Kit sponsorship 21 84
Fund Matching 103 300

* These figures represent a five-month period from 1/5/08 to 28/09/08 when these
programmes were initiated.

As well as fund raising on behalf of their service users, the Group’s
homes also support a number of local and national charities. Their
activities are supported by Southern Cross matching the funds raised.

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)
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Corporate Social Responsibility
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Water Management
We currently await the findings following an external review
of our current water management systems and plan future
improvements to reduce water wastage.

Fuel Management
In an effort to reduce the annual business mileage, video
conferencing in key business sites has been installed this year.
The yearly reduction in mileage will be monitored and, in addition,
the Group’s car replacement programme will place emphasis on
fuel efficient and environmentally friendly vehicles.

Volatile Organic Products
Other measures introduced this year included a switch from oil
based paints to water based paints when redecorating care homes,
thus reducing the Group’s use of Volatile Organic Products by 80%.

New Developments
2007/2008 has seen the Group’s planned development programme
continue in line with corporate expectation. Part of this has seen
a review of design and specifications to ensure best practice.

Over recent years, Building Regulations have driven the
construction industry towards energy efficient and sustainable
solutions. Southern Cross shares this ethos as an absolute positive
for the Group and the environment.

At the Group’s new build care services in Portishead, Taunton,
Faversham and Copthorne a highly efficient Swedish timber framed
system incorporating triple glazing has been used. This has enabled
the installation of electric heating which can be run at lower delivery
temperatures. Together with heat exchange systems, the Company
expects to provide an approximate 20% reduction in energy use
over and above the minimum building regulations.

Gas Usage
Phase 2 of our programme for installing boiler management controls
in our care services commenced during the year. These controls
ensure a more efficient use of energy without deterioration in the
output of the boiler.

Last year 50 controls were installed and a further 150 have been
installed this year. The complete programme has required an
investment of over £1m. The Group’s objective is to achieve a
saving of at least 3.5% in C02 emissions related to its gas usage.

Electricity Usage
To further reduce the Group’s consumption of electricity it has
commenced phase 2 of its programme for replacing extractor fans
with motioned activated fans in our care services.

Waste Management
The effective disposal of waste remains a challenge to the Group.
Last year the Group estimated landfill waste at 13,313 tonnes,
this year with the commencement of some pilot recycling projects
landfill has been reduced to approximately 10,543 tonnes.

Last year 12,652 tonnes of clinical waste were produced. This year,
in addition to using bio-degradable products, clinical waste is
approximately 13,677 tonnes. As a result of the number of beds
in the Group’s portfolio increasing, this number actually represents
a reduction of almost 1,000 tonnes.

All practical and easily implemented incentives to reduce waste
remain in place. The Group continues to recycle cooking oil and
products from its photocopiers and printers. This year paper,
cardboard, tin and plastic packaging will also be included.



It is not only the big things that make a difference. In the Group’s
new developments it is also incorporating:

� energy efficient lighting including LED lights within the en-suite
pods in lieu of halogen;

� shower heads designed to use less water;
� PIR sensors controlling the lighting in WCs, cupboards and other

appropriate areas;
� push taps in cleaning rooms and staff areas; and
� solar water heating panels.

The Group will learn from its experiences and seek to review other
cost effective solutions across existing care services.

Suppliers
The selection of business partners is an important driver in
the Group’s continued improvement strategy. The Group believes
that suppliers should share our business ethos in terms of quality
delivery. Southern Cross works closely with suppliers to ensure
products are competitive, services are efficient and that a
commitment to environmental best practice is shared. In return,
Southern Cross commits to agreed terms of business

2007/2008 has seen the creation of a detailed supplier database.
This is almost complete and will evidence measures the Group’s
suppliers take to reduce their impact on the environment.

Southern Cross is actively working on streamlining the order process
with its key suppliers to reduce the amount of paper generated.
The Group is also currently planning the implementation of an
e-purchase system which will assist in reducing paper volumes.
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Directors and Officers

Richard Midmer (54), Group Finance Director
Richard Midmer joined the Company as Group Finance Director
on 1 July 2008. He previously worked in the oil and gas sector as
Finance Director of British-Borneo Oil & Gas Plc. He joined NHP plc,
a quoted care home company, as Group Finance Director in
November 2000 where he worked until its acquisition by private
equity in February 2005. He is a Non-Executive Director of Rugby
Estates Investment Trust plc.

Kamma Foulkes (58), Group Operations Director
Kamma Foulkes was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company on 3 July 2008. A registered nurse, Kamma has worked
within the residential and nursing care sector since the early 1990’s.
She was an Operations Director for Southern Cross Healthcare from
1998-2003. In October 2003 she joined Highfield Care Limited in
the position of Managing Director. She returned to Southern Cross
in that role in March 2005, when the Highfield Group was acquired
by Southern Cross. Ms. Foulkes became Group Operations Director
in early 2007.

Committees
Audit Committee
Nancy Hollendoner (Chairman)
Baroness Morgan of Huyton
Christopher Fisher

Nomination Committee
Ray Miles (Chairman)
Christopher Fisher
Nancy Hollendoner
Baroness Morgan of Huyton

Remuneration Committee
Christopher Fisher (Chairman)
Baroness Morgan of Huyton
Nancy Hollendoner
Ray Miles

Quality Assurance Committee
Baroness Morgan of Huyton
(Chairman)
Nancy Hollendoner
Kamma Foulkes

Ray Miles (64), Non-Executive Director and Chairman
Ray Miles became a Non-Executive Director of the Company in
June 2006 and served as the Senior Independent Director until he
was appointed Chairman on 1 January 2008. Mr Miles has spent
most of his career in the shipping industry. From 1988 until
December 2005, he was Chief Executive Officer of CP Ships Limited.
He was also the Senior Independent Director of Stelmar Shipping
Limited from 2004 to 2005. Mr Miles is Deputy Chairman of
International Personal Finance PLC which, in July 2007, demerged
from Provident Financial PLC and he joined the advisory board
of Stena AB in 2006. He is Chairman of the Devon Community
Foundation and The Garden Opera Company and a Trustee of
Country Holidays for Inner City Kids.

Jamie Buchan (49), Chief Executive
Jamie Buchan will be appointed as an Executive Director of
the Company on 1 January 2009. Between 2002 and May 2008,
Mr Buchan, backed by a Malaysian private fund, led the successful
turnaround and subsequent sale of the ExCeL Exhibition and
Conference centre in London. Prior to that, Mr Buchan held leading
roles in hospitality at Whitbread, in customer service and brand
development at Centrica, in logistics at Ocean Group and, for
14 years, retail service station operations in Esso which he joined
as a graduate trainee in 1981.
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Nancy Hollendoner (53), Non-Executive Director
Nancy Hollendoner joined the Board in January 2008. Nancy is
a senior adviser on the healthcare market to Hawkpoint Partners
Limited. She previously worked as an equities analyst specialising
in the healthcare market and was employed by UBS investment
bank between 1996 and 2002. Nancy served as a Non-Executive
Director of NHP plc between 2003 and 2005.

Christopher Fisher (55), Senior Independent Non-Executive Director
Christopher Fisher joined the Board in June 2006 and became the
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director in January 2008. He is
a partner in Penfida, a firm providing independent financial advice
to pension fund trustees, and is also a Trustee of the Imperial War
Museum and Treasurer of Reading University. He spent most of his
career at Lazard, the investment bank, where he was a Managing
Director, and has also served as Vice Chairman, Corporate Finance,
at KPMG, and as a Non-Executive Director of Kelda/Yorkshire Water.

Baroness Morgan of Huyton (49), Non-Executive Director
Baroness Morgan of Huyton became a Non-Executive Director
of the Company in June 2006. A former teacher, Baroness Morgan
worked as a senior aide to the British Prime Minister from 1997
to 2005. In 2001, she was made a peer and served as Minister
in the Cabinet Office. From 2001 to 2005, she was Director of
Government Relations, Downing Street, working closely with the
Prime Minister. Baroness Morgan is now working as an adviser
to a children’s charity, serving on the board of the Olympic Delivery
Authority, a member of the advisory boards of Lloyds Pharmacy
Limited and Humana Europe Limited and is a Non-Executive
Director of Carphone Warehouse PLC.
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Company Secretary
William McLeish was appointed as Company Secretary on 25 May
2006 and is a chartered accountant. On 1 August 2007 he was
elected an associate of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators.

Notes
Philip Scott resigned as an Executive Director on 31 December 2007.
Graham Sizer resigned as an Executive Director on 29 February 2008.
Jason Lock was appointed as an Executive Director on 1 March 2008
and resigned on 29 June 2008.
John Murphy resigned as an Executive Director on 30 September 2008.
William Colvin resigned as an Executive Director on 8 October 2008.

From left to right: Christopher Fisher, Baroness Morgan of Huyton, Nancy Hollendoner



Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the 52-week period ended 28 September 2008.

Activities of the Group
The Group’s principal activities are the development and operation of care homes for the elderly and the provision of specialist services
for people with physical and/or learning disabilities.

A detailed review of the Group’s activities, development of its business and future developments are provided in the operational and
financial reviews.

Results and Dividends
The consolidated income statement, showing the results for the period, is set out on page 44. A detailed review of the Group’s results
is provided in the financial review.

The Directors recommend that no final dividend (2007 – 5p per share totalling £9.4m) be paid. On 20 June 2008 the Company paid an
interim dividend of 3.75p per share totalling £7.1m (2007 – 2.5p per share totalling £4.7m).

Directors
The names and biographical details of the Directors who currently hold office are given on page 26.

The beneficial interests of Directors in the shares of the Company, details of service contracts and remuneration are shown in the report
of the Remuneration Committee on pages 37 to 41.

Acquisitions
Details of acquisitions in the period are given in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

Employment
The Group gives full and fair consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons, with regard to their particular aptitudes
and abilities. Efforts are made to continue the employment of those who become disabled during their employment. Retraining of newly
disabled employees is provided where appropriate and fair consideration is given to all employees in terms of their career development
and promotion prospects. The Group seeks to recruit, develop and employ throughout the organisation, suitably qualified, capable
and experienced people, irrespective of age, race, religion or sexual orientation. Employee involvement in the business is encouraged.
The Group communicates with its employees through the use of the Group’s intranet and its regular newsletter and obtains employee
feedback through employee surveys.

Supplier Payment Policy
It is Group policy to pay suppliers in accordance with agreed terms and conditions, provided that suppliers also comply with all relevant
terms and conditions. At 28 September 2008 the Group’s supplier payment period was 46 days (2007 – 50 days). The Company is a
holding company and does not have trade suppliers.

Financial Instruments
Information on the Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies and on the exposure of the Group to relevant risks in respect
of financial instruments is set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Key Performance Indicators
The key performance indicators (KPIs) that are regularly used by the Group to monitor progress against its strategy are shown below
and discussed in the Group at a glance section on page 2 of the report.

KPI Description

Average occupancy � The average occupancy of available beds expressed
as a percentage.

Average weekly fee � The average weekly fee achieved per occupied bed.

Home EBITDAR � Home EBITDAR (Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation,
amortisation, rent and loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment and subsidiary undertakings and impairment
of property assets held for resale) before central costs.

Adjusted EBITDA � EBITDA (Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation,
amortisation, loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
and subsidiary undertakings and impairment of freehold assets
held for resale) after adding back the charge for future minimum
rental increases.

EBITDAR margin � Home EBITDAR before central costs expressed as a percentage
of revenue.

Rent cover � Home EBITDAR before central costs divided by the cash rent cost.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
Southern Cross, like all businesses, faces a number of operating risks and uncertainties. There are a number of risks that could impact
the Group’s long-term performance and steps are taken to understand and evaluate these in order to achieve our objective of creating
long-term, sustainable returns for shareholders.

The Group has a risk management process in place, which is designed to identify, manage and mitigate business risk. Regular reporting
of these risks and the monitoring of actions and controls is conducted by the Audit Committee, which reports its findings to the Board.
This process is described in the corporate governance section.

The most fundamental risks faced by the Group are:

� if the Group fails to comply with regulation, regulatory action could include, among other penalties, the revocation of a care home’s
licence to operate;

� the Group could suffer severe negative publicity if a serious incident were to occur at one of the Group’s care homes;

� if budgeted occupancy levels are not achieved then profit will be reduced;

� if average weekly fees do not, at least, rise in line with costs then profit margins will be reduced;

� the Group’s current growth strategy is dependent on the Group being able to enter lease agreements with developers on satisfactory
terms; and

� if the Group fails to attract and retain nursing and other qualified staff, it may be unable to provide residents with quality nursing care
and may have to reduce the number of beds in its care homes.
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Takeover Directive
The Company has one class of share capital, ordinary shares. All the shares rank pari passu. There are no special control rights in relation to
the Company’s shares. The rules governing the appointment and replacement of Board members and changes to the Articles of Association
accord with usual English company law provisions. The Board has power to purchase its own shares and is seeking renewal of that power
at the forthcoming AGM within the limits set out in the notice of that meeting. There are no significant agreements to which the Company
is party to, which take effect, alter or terminate in the event of change of control of the Company. There are no agreements providing for
compensation for Directors or employees on change of control.

Events After the Balance Sheet Date
Events which happened after the balance sheet date are set out in note 37 to the financial statements.

Substantial Shareholdings
At 17 November 2008 the Company had been notified of the following interests, which exceed 3% of the Company’s issued share capital:

%

Legal and General Group plc 14.35
Deutsche Bank AG 12.28
Lansdowne Partners 5.03
ING Bank NV 3.36
Standard Life Investments Limited 3.34

Charitable and Political Donations
During the period the Group made donations to charities totalling £45,522 (2007 – £50,000). No political donations were made.
Further information on the Group’s charitable donations is disclosed in the corporate social responsibility report on page 23.

Annual General Meeting
The notice convening the Annual General Meeting of the Company together with explanatory resolutions is included in a separate document
sent to shareholders.

Independent Auditors
A resolution to reappoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Auditors to the Company, and authorising the Directors to determine their
remuneration, will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Respect of the Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the
Financial Statements
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ remuneration report and the financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors have prepared the
Group and parent company financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Union. In preparing these financial statements, the Directors have also elected to comply with IFRSs, issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company and the Group and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period.

In preparing those financial statements, the Directors are required to:

� select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

� make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

� state that the financial statements comply with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and IFRSs issued by IASB; and

� prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group will continue
in business, in which case there should be supporting assumptions or qualifications as necessary.
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The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the Company and the Group and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements and the Directors’ remuneration report comply
with the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed in the Directors and Officers section confirm that, to the best of their knowledge:

� the Group financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, give a true and fair view
of the assets, liabilities, financial position and loss of the Group; and

� the Directors’ report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Group, together
with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.

Disclosure of information to Auditors
Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of approval of this report confirms that:

1) so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware; and

2) each director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself/herself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s234ZA of the Companies Act 1985.

By order of the Board

William McLeish Company Secretary
9 December 2008
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Corporate Governance

The Board supports the principles of corporate governance set out in the Combined Code on Corporate Governance issued by the Financial
Reporting Standards Council in June 2006 (“the Combined Code”). This statement describes how the principles of the Combined Code have
been applied to the Group in the current financial year.

The Board
The Board currently comprises three Non-Executive and two Executive Directors, in addition to the Chairman. During the period 8 October
until 31 December 2008, the Chairman assumed executive responsibility pending the appointment on 1 January 2009 of the Company’s
new Chief Executive.

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are clearly defined, approved by the Board and separate. The Chairman is responsible
for leading the Board in determining the Group’s strategy, achieving its objectives and organising the business of the Board. The Chief
Executive Officer is responsible for the executive management of the Group’s operations and day-to-day activities.

The Board is responsible for setting the Group’s strategy, assessing and managing risk and monitoring the financial performance of the
Group. To assist in the effective running of the Board a comprehensive set of documents, including financial performance, operational
issues, reports on developments and acquisitions and compliance matters, is provided to the Board on a timely basis. The Board has a
formal schedule of matters reserved for its approval; these matters include approval of the annual strategic plan and budgets and the
review of overall corporate governance arrangements. The Board has adopted a Code of Ethics for Board members to which all Board
members subscribe. The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring Board procedures are complied with.

On 31 December 2007, Philip Scott resigned as Chief Executive. He was replaced by William Colvin on 1 January 2008. On 8 October 2008
William Colvin resigned. The Company announced the appointment of Jamie Buchan as its new Chief Executive, effective 1 January 2009,
on 25 November 2008.

On 29 February 2008, Graham Sizer resigned as Group Finance Director. He was replaced by Jason Lock on 1 March 2008. Jason Lock
resigned on 29 June 2008. The Board appointed Richard Midmer as Group Finance Director with effect from 1 July 2008.

On 3 July 2008, Kamma Foulkes was appointed as an Executive Director by the Board.

The appointments of Jamie Buchan, Richard Midmer and Kamma Foulkes are to be confirmed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
Their biographical details are contained in the notice calling the meeting.

Following the announcement on 11 August 2008 that John Murphy would retire from the Company with effect from 30 September 2008
his resignation was duly received and accepted by the Board.

The Board meets, formally, bi-monthly, and additional meetings are arranged as necessary to consider urgent business. The Chairman also
holds meetings with the Non-Executive Directors without the presence of the Executive Directors. The table below summarises the total
number of formal Board, Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee meetings held during the period and the
attendance by each Director.

Board Audit Nomination Remuneration

Total number of meetings 9 5 5 5

Attendance at meetings
William Colvin (resigned 8 October 2008) 9 1* 2 4
Philip Scott (resigned 31 December 2007) 1
Graham Sizer (resigned 29 February 2008) 2 1*
Jason Lock (appointed 1 March 2008, resigned 29 June 2008) 2 2*
John Murphy (resigned 30 September 2008) 7 1*
Richard Midmer 4 1*
Kamma Foulkes 3 1*
Ray Miles 9 1* 5 5
Baroness Morgan of Huyton 9 5 5 5
Christopher Fisher 9 5 5 5
Nancy Hollendoner (appointed 1 January 2008) 7 4 4 4

* By invitation
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In addition to the above meetings, a number of meetings were held by telephone, to deal with urgent business that arose between
the formal meeting dates.

The Chairman has responsibility for the induction process in respect of new Directors. The process includes industry specific presentations
from third parties and management presentations. Directors can take independent advice on matters relating to their duties, at the expense
of the Company, and have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary. The removal from office of the Company Secretary
is a matter reserved for the whole Board.

On 8 October Ray Miles became Executive Chairman but on the appointment of the new Chief Executive on 1 January 2009 he will revert
to his role of Non-Executive Chairman. The Board considers Baroness Morgan of Huyton, Christopher Fisher and Nancy Hollendoner to
be independent Non-Executive Directors. In the view of the Board they are independent of management and free from any relationship,
business or otherwise, which could materially interfere with the exercise of their independent judgement.

One third of the Directors are subject to retirement from the Board at the Company’s Annual General Meeting. Details of the retiring
Directors and of those individuals nominated for office are set out in the Notice calling that Meeting.

The Board is carrying out a formal evaluation of its own performance and of individual Directors. The evaluation covers all aspects of Board
behaviours and processes including its composition, the performance of its committees, directors and secretary and its interaction with
its stakeholders. External advisers on corporate governance, Linstock Limited, are facilitating the evaluations. The Non-Executive Directors,
led by the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director are responsible for evaluating the performance of the Chairman and the executive
members of the Board. Resources are available to support Directors in addressing any identified training needs that arise out of
performance evaluations.

Committees of the Board
The Board has Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees and in addition has recently formed a Quality Assurance Committee,
the roles and terms of reference of each are summarised below. A Special Committee of the Board also operated during the year.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is comprised of the three independent Non-Executive Directors (namely Nancy Hollendoner, Christopher Fisher, and
Baroness Morgan of Huyton). On 1 January 2008, Nancy Hollendoner replaced Ray Miles on the committee. In a planned change, on 1 July
Nancy Hollendoner took over from Christopher Fisher as Chairman of the committee. She was previously an equities analyst specialising
in the healthcare market with the investment bank UBS and is currently a senior adviser on the healthcare market to Hawkpoint Partners
Limited. In the view of the Board she brings recent and relevant financial expertise to the committee.

The committee meets formally at least four times a year and otherwise as required. The external Auditors, Group Finance Director,
Group Financial Controller and Head of Internal Audit are invited to attend the Audit Committee meetings. At each meeting, an opportunity
is given for the Non-Executive Directors and the External Auditors to meet in private.

The committee has clearly defined terms of reference; these are set out on the Group’s website. Its responsibilities include: assisting the
Board in the effective discharge of its duties in respect of corporate governance; financial reporting; risk management; and internal control.

The independence and objectivity of the External Auditors is reviewed by the Audit Committee, with specific consideration given to the
level of non–audit fees. Information on non-audit fees is given in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements. Deloitte & Touche LLP
provided support to the Internal Audit Department. The committee approves each appointment and does not consider the non-audit fees
paid to the external Auditors to have affected their independence or objectivity.

The committee receives an annual independence confirmation from the external Auditors.

The committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board in relation to the appointment, reappointment and any matters
of resignation or dismissal of the external Auditors as well as the approval of fees for external Auditors.

The Board, through its Audit Committee, has received regular reports from the Internal Audit Department established during 2007.
The work of the department was summarised in a report to the committee. The Audit Committee also receives regular reports from
the Group Risk Management Committee on the policies and processes in place to control and mitigate risks. The findings of the Internal
Audit Department and the committee’s assessment of the risks facing the Group were used to create the Company’s 2008/2009 internal
audit plan which has been agreed by the committee. The Audit Committee will monitor progress against the plan.

The committee also has responsibility for reviewing the Group’s procedures by which employees may, in confidence, raise concerns about
improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters and to ensure these arrangements allow for independent investigation and
appropriate follow up.
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Remuneration Committee
The composition and role of the Remuneration Committee are set out in the remuneration report on pages 37 to 41. Full details of Directors’
remuneration and shareholdings are also given in that report.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee is comprised of four Non-Executive Directors (namely Ray Miles, Christopher Fisher, Baroness Morgan of Huyton
and Nancy Hollendoner (from 1 January 2008)). During the year William Colvin was also a member of the committee. The Chairman of the
committee is Ray Miles. The committee meets formally at least twice a year and otherwise as required.

The committee assists the Board in discharging its responsibilities relating to the composition and make up of the Board. It is responsible
for evaluating the balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the Board, identifying potential candidates to be appointed as Directors,
as the need may arise, and determining succession planning for the Chairman and Chief Executive. During the year the committee formally
met five times and several times by telephone to resolve the various management succession issues that arose. External advisers were
engaged by the committee to assist in the successful selection of the new Chief Executive.

The committee’s terms of reference are set out on the Group’s website.

Quality Assurance Committee
During the year the Board established a new committee to assist the Group with its desire to deliver the highest possible quality of care to
its service users. The Quality Assurance Committee’s responsibilities include monitoring the compliance and quality assurance of the Group
in relation to the obligations imposed on it by statute or any regulatory authority, assessing the effectiveness of internal quality reporting
and internal controls and identifying appropriate corrective actions when required.

Baroness Morgan of Huyton chairs the committee which comprises three Directors (Baroness Morgan of Huyton, Nancy Hollendoner and
Kamma Foulkes) as well as senior management. The committee will meet at least three times a year.

The committee’s terms of reference are set out on the Group’s website.

Special Committee
In July the Company formed a Special Committee to help the Board manage the Company’s refinancing process. The Special Committee’s
remit was very wide but included managing all factors including but not limited to risk, profitability, financial regulation, investor relations
and external communications that arose from the need to refinance. Following the successful completion of the Group’s refinancing the
committee was dissolved.

The committee was chaired by Ray Miles and comprised three Directors (namely Ray Miles, Christopher Fisher and Richard Midmer).
The committee met as required but at least weekly from July until September. The Group’s brokers, legal advisers and debt advisers
all attended the meetings.

Internal Control and Risk Management
The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system of internal controls and risk management. The system includes an ongoing
process for identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks faced by the Group. The process is designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives. As with any system of internal control it can only provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has regularly reviewed both the key risks faced by the Group and the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control systems for
the period under review and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and Accounts. The Board is responsible for risk assessment
and management within the Group however, outside of its review, the Board delegates responsibility to the Group Risk Management
Committee and Audit Committee for more regular reviews of both key risks and internal controls.

The key elements of the Group’s system of internal control are:

Risk Management
The Board has put in place a documented organisational structure with clearly defined and understood roles and responsibilities. There are
also established and documented policies and procedures at both the home level and for the head office finance function. The Board has
established a Group Risk Management Committee (“GRMC”) and has delegated responsibility to this committee. The GRMC meets every
three months or more frequently if circumstances require. Since August 2008 the committee has met monthly. The committee consults
with the Senior Executive Team (SET) and reports to the main Board through the Audit Committee.
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The GRMC is chaired by the Group Financial Controller and comprises representatives of the major functions of the Group: Finance, Legal,
Operations, Human Resources, Estates, Health and Safety, Information Technology and Compliance. Each representative is known as a Risk
Champion for their own business unit.

The Group Risk Management Committee is responsible for setting Group policy and strategy for risk management, identifying, assessing,
and managing risks facing the Group and communicating, educating and training employees on the risks facing the Group.

The Risk Management Policy provides the framework for managing risk and aims to meet the requirements of good corporate governance.
The management of the risks identified in our business, in an appropriate way, is fundamental to our approach.

The following definitions are included within the policy:

Risk: Events that may prevent the achievement of strategic objectives of the Group;

Risk management: The process of identification and treatment of risks facing the Group so that strategic objectives
may be met; and

Risk assessment: The systematic process of analysing risk.

Policy Objectives
Southern Cross is committed to effective risk management; the objectives in respect of risk management are as follows:

� to set Group policy and strategy for risk management;

� to identify threats to the achievement of the Group’s business objectives;

� to assess, manage and control the Group’s exposure to risk;

� to educate and train Risk Champions in risk management; and

� to ensure timely communication of risks to both internal and external sources.

Reporting
It is the responsibility of the Risk Champions to report risk to the Chairman of the GRMC at each meeting of the committee. Reports will
include findings from the self-audit tools, issues identified by Internal Audit and risks identified as a result of specific incidents that occur
unexpectedly in the normal course of business. The GRMC will filter these as appropriate and report to the main Board through the Audit
Committee. A Group Risk Register is maintained in respect of all major risks.

Internal Audit
Throughout the period, the Internal Audit Department carried out audits both at the homes and of head office functions. Deloitte & Touche
LLP were also engaged to carry out audits of head office functions. The results of these audits are reported to the Audit Committee which
communicates any significant concerns to the Board. Operational Management also performed regular audits at home level which
considered regulatory compliance and observance of Company policy, health and safety legislation and other operational matters. To help
ensure compliance, the Group has a Quality Assurance Department that assists in training operational management on internal compliance
techniques and ensures that a uniform approach is adopted across the Group.

Management Information Systems
The Group has a comprehensive management information system for regular and timely reporting into the Board. Every four weeks the
financial reporting system produces reports on: the results for the period and the period to date together with key performance indicators
(comparing them against budgeted performance); working capital movements; and detailed cash flow information. The management
reporting system also includes information on internal, external, regulatory and compliance audits, health and safety and other operational
matters. The Board reviews this information at each of its meetings.

Effectiveness of Internal Controls
The Board confirms that it has reviewed the effectiveness of the system of internal controls, in accordance with the guidance “Internal
Control: Revised Guidance for Directors on the Combined Code”, and is satisfied that the Group complies with that guidance.

An assessment is made of the financial, operational, compliance and risk management controls. Internal audit assisted the Board in its
review. In addition to its other work, internal audit tested the mitigating controls identified by the Group Risk Management Committee
in relation to the Group’s key risks in order to give assurance as to their effectiveness.

Southern Cross Healthcare Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2008 35



Corporate Governance

During the course of the year the Company announced to the stock exchange that it required to undertake a refinancing exercise.
Refinancing was necessary as a result of the Group’s inability to repay a short-term loan in the sum of £46m which had been drawn,
primarily, to finance the acquisition of the Portland Group. In addition an anticipated non-compliance with a financial covenant was
identified. At the same time the Company also announced that home occupancy was behind expectations and that trading was unlikely
to improve sufficiently to allow the Group to meet its original forecast.

It was the view of the Board that there had been significant control failings which had allowed the potential banking covenant and
repayment defaults to arise. Consequently, following the announcement, the Audit Committee launched an investigation, carried out by
the Head of Internal Audit, into the circumstances and events leading up to the announcement. A full review of the risk management
process and the internal controls applied was undertaken.

The work of Internal Audit identified a number of historical weaknesses in the adequacy and effectiveness of controls in place over the
preparation of profit and cash forecasts and the management and review of Group banking facilities, resulting in several recommendations
for improvement to the control environment. Management have responded to these recommendations, with many actions in place or
underway and Internal Audit will review their implementation and continued application on an ongoing basis during 2008/2009.

Subsequently additional controls have been implemented around the completion of certificates confirming compliance with banking
covenants. In addition the reporting of covenant compliance to the Board has been improved.

It is the view of the Board that the actions taken are sufficient to address the weaknesses identified by the investigation and believe
the Group now has in place the correct management culture.

Investor Relations
The Board supports the view that effective communications with its Shareholders and the wider investment community is a critical
element of corporate governance. The Chairman has overall responsibility for ensuring effective communication with the Group’s
Shareholders and to ensure the Board develops an understanding of the views of key Shareholders.

The Group’s Annual and Interim Reports are the primary method by which information is communicated to our shareholders. In addition
there is also regular dialogue with individual institutional Shareholders. In accordance with the EU Transparency Directive the Group issues
quarterly Interim Management Statements and general meetings are held after the announcement of interim and preliminary results.
All Non-Executive Directors are given the opportunity to attend these meetings and receive copies of any briefings on the Group produced
by analysts or brokers. The Chairman and the Senior Independent Director are available to meet with major shareholders at any time.

The Group’s Annual General Meeting is used as an opportunity to communicate with private investors and to give all ordinary Shareholders
the opportunity to ask questions of the Directors.

In an effort to communicate more readily with its Shareholders, the Group’s website has been developed to incorporate an investor
relations page. A profile of the Group, statutory financial statements, all announcements and regular corporate news are included.

Going Concern
After making enquiries the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group and Company have adequate resources to continue
operations for the foreseeable future. For this reason the financial statements continue to be prepared on the going-concern basis.

Compliance Statement
The Board confirms that for the period under review the Company has been in compliance with the provisions set out in Section 1
of the 2006 Combined Code, except that:

i) during the period 3 July 2008 to 8 October 2008, half the Board was not made up of Non-Executive Directors; and

ii) in respect of the control failings which allowed potential banking covenant and repayment defaults to arise the Group failed
to maintain a sound system of internal control.

By order of the Board

William McLeish Company Secretary
9 December 2008
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Introduction
The Remuneration Committee presents its report and information on Directors’ remuneration. This report is unaudited except for those
parts which are stated as being audited.

The Remuneration Committee and its Role
From 1 January 2008, the Remuneration Committee comprised four Non-Executive Directors (namely Christopher Fisher, Baroness Morgan
of Huyton, Nancy Hollendoner and Ray Miles). Christopher Fisher took over from Ray Miles as Chairman of the Committee with effect from
1 January 2008. Nancy Hollendoner joined the Committee at that same time.

The committee has clearly defined terms of reference; these are set out on the Group’s website. Its responsibilities include making
recommendations to the Board on the Group’s framework of remuneration for executive management, reviewing the ongoing
appropriateness and relevance of the remuneration policy and determining, on behalf of the Board, specific remuneration packages for each
of the Executive Directors and the Chairman of the Board. The committee meets formally at least twice a year and otherwise as required.

During the period the committee has taken advice from Hewitt New Bridge Street. In particular advice was sought in relation to the share
option plans for the new Chief Executive and new Group Finance Director. Shareholders will be asked to approve these plans at the
forthcoming AGM.

Remuneration Policy
This report sets out the Company’s policy on Directors’ remuneration for the financial year 2008 and, so far as is practical, for future years.
Any changes in policy for future years will be described in future remuneration reports. The Group’s overall policy on remuneration is to
attract, develop, motivate and retain individuals at all levels, pay competitive salaries and align remuneration arrangements with the
Group’s strategy and objectives.

The Board’s policy on executive remuneration is to:

� pay basic salaries that are competitive with other companies of similar size and standing;

� have a significant part of remuneration linked to the achievement of performance targets;

� have performance-related remuneration aligned to the interests of Shareholders; and

� encourage executives to hold shares in the Company.

In establishing these policies, the Board has given due consideration to the requirements of the Combined Code.

Executive Remuneration Packages
Executive remuneration packages for the current period comprised basic salary and benefits, annual performance-related bonus, long-term
share incentives and pension benefits. Further details of each element are given below.

Basic Salary and Benefits
The committee reviews basic salary and benefits each year, taking into consideration Group financial performance, individual responsibilities,
skills and experience. Consideration is also given to the salaries and benefits paid to executives by other companies of similar size and
standing. The last such review took place during 2007. Due to the recent appointment of the Executive Directors, whose remuneration
was negotiated prior to appointment, there are no current plans to review their basic salary and benefits package.

Basic salaries for the Executive Directors are a fixed annual sum payable monthly in cash. The value of benefits for Executive Directors
is included in the remuneration table on page 40 and consists of car allowance and life and health insurance.

Annual Performance-related Bonus
Executive Directors are normally entitled to receive a bonus of up to 70% of basic salary, subject to attainment of certain performance
targets based on Net Income (after the charge for share-based payments, the charge for future minimum rental increases and the cost of
cash bonuses, all net of tax, have been added back). The Directors are also eligible to receive a further bonus equal to 30% of basic salary,
subject to the discretion of the Remuneration Committee and approval of the Board. In accordance with the terms of Richard Midmer’s
appointment the Committee agreed that a bonus of £385,000, due on the successful completion of the refinancing of the Group,
had been earned.

Remuneration Report
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Performance Share Plan
The Southern Cross Healthcare Group 2006 Performance Share Plan (“the PSP”) was adopted by the Company in June 2006. Awards under
the PSP are on an annual allocation of notional ordinary shares equivalent in value to a maximum of 100% of annual basic salary as at the
award date, unless the Remuneration Committee decides that exceptional circumstances exist in relation to the recruitment or retention of
an employee, in which case the limit will be 200% of annual basic salary.

On 4 September 2006, 2,365,332 awards were granted with an exercise price of £Nil. The performance targets in respect of this award
fell to be tested on 28 September 2008. The Company failed to achieve both the Earnings Per Share (“EPS”) and Total Shareholder Return
(“TSR”) tests and consequently the awards under this grant have now lapsed.

On 17 January 2008, 3,719,808 awards were granted with an exercise price of £Nil. A further grant of 370,970 awards with an exercise
price of £Nil was made on 14 May 2008. A summary of the vesting conditions for these grants follows:

Vesting of awards made under the PSP takes place at the expiry of the three-year period following the date of the grant and is subject
to attainment of agreed performance targets which, for the outstanding awards, will be tested at the end of the 2010 financial year.

70% of the award will vest on attainment of a performance target based on EPS. For the purposes of calculating the EPS condition,
net income is defined as profit after taxation before deduction of future minimum rental increases, goodwill impairment, annual bonuses
paid to participants in the PSP and the cost of share options charged to the income statement under the PSP. The remaining 30% will vest
on attainment of a performance target based on TSR. In respect of the EPS performance target, 100% of relevant awards will vest if the
PSP EPS for the 2010 financial period exceeds 38.28p per share and no awards will vest if PSP EPS is below 32.97p per share, with
straight-line vesting between these two points.

The remaining 30% will vest on attainment of a performance target based on TSR measured against the constituents of the FTSE 250
Index, excluding investment trusts. 100% of this will vest if the Company’s TSR growth is in the upper quartile and 33% will vest if growth
is at the median, with straight-line vesting between the two points. If the Company’s growth is below the median then no awards that
are subject to the TSR performance target shall vest.

The calculation below shows how the Group has performed against the PSP EPS measure, during the year.
52 weeks ended

28 September 2008
Per share

Earnings amount
£’m p

Loss attributable to ordinary Shareholders (18.0) (9.57)
Charge for future minimum rental increases 50.5 26.85
Charge in respect of share options/taxation (0.2) (0.11)
Taxation impact of the above (14.1) (7.49)

Profit for the purposes of calculating earnings per share under the PSP 18.2 9.68

The Remuneration Committee considers the targets to be appropriate and will review targets for future awards on an annual basis.
The Company intends to consider a further award under the PSP in 2009.

Chief Executive and Group Finance Director Share Option Plans
As a term of their recruitment the Company agreed specific Share Option Plans for both the Chief Executive and the Group Finance
Director. It is the current intention that new shares be issued to satisfy any options exercised under the plans, thereby requiring
shareholder approval of the plans. Consequently the plans will be placed before the 2009 AGM for approval.

The plans are similar in design but differ in specific clauses relating to the exercise date, number of shares under option, exercise prices
and performance conditions, reflecting the different timing and circumstances of their appointment. The options will be granted as soon
as practicable after shareholder approval is obtained. No payment is required for the grant of the options. The options are not transferable,
except on death and they are not pensionable.

The committee can decide to satisfy the options by the payment of a cash amount or the transfer of shares equal in value to the gain
made on the exercise of the option. The Chief Executive’s options will lapse on 1 January 2019 while the Group Finance Director’s options
will lapse on 1 July 2018, both to the extent that they have not been exercised.
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In both cases the options are exercisable three years after the date of appointment, other than Option 4 of the Group Finance Director’s
plan which is not exercisable until after 1 January 2012.

The Chief Executive’s share options are subject to the following performance conditions. The options will only be exercisable provided
the share price is in excess of 130p at the time of exercise and adjusted EPS has grown by 5% compound between the 2008 financial
year (just ended, adjusted EPS 19.60p) and the financial year ending on 2 October 2011. The EPS performance condition also applies
to Option 4 of the Finance Director’s share option award. If the EPS performance condition is not satisfied, the committee may allow
up to one third of the options affected to be exercised in the period up to 31 March 2012 if it is their opinion, acting fairly and reasonably,
that the underlying financial performance of the Group satisfies allowing such exercise.

The table below details the relevant conditions.
Chief Exercise Group Exercise

Executive Price Finance Price
Officer (Pence) Director (Pence)

Earliest Exercise Date 1 January 2012 1 July 2011
Option 1 Shares 1,800,000 100 1,000,000 84
Option 2 Shares 600,000 150 500,000 126
Option 3 Shares 600,000 200 500,000 168
Option 4 Shares – – 500,000 250

No awards under the PSP will be made to either the Chief Executive or Group Finance Director before the 2010 financial year.

SAYE
The Company plans to seek Shareholder approval for an all employee Sharesave plan at its AGM, summary details of the plan will be
included in the notice of meeting.

Pension Benefits
All current Executive Directors are entitled to money purchase benefits equal to 15% of annual salary. Bonuses and awards made under
any share plans are not pensionable.

Service Contracts
The Executive Directors’ service agreements provide that the notice required to terminate their employment is 12 months given either
by the Director or the Company.

The Company also has the right to terminate the employment of an Executive Director without notice or with less than 12 months’ notice
by making a payment in lieu of notice equal to the base salary and contractual benefits the Executive Director would be entitled to receive
during any un-expired part of the notice period.

Under the current terms of the Executive Directors’ service agreements, the Chief Executive is entitled to receive a basic salary of £430,000
per annum, whilst Richard Midmer is entitled to receive a basic salary of £385,000 per annum and Kamma Foulkes is entitled to receive a
basic salary of £300,000 per annum. Richard Midmer and Kamma Foulkes are also entitled to a car allowance, while all Executive Directors
are also entitled to life and healthcare insurance.

Philip Scott and Graham Sizer left during the year and did not receive any compensation payment on termination. Jason Lock who also left
during the year received a cash payment of £82,565 (equivalent to three months pay) under the terms of his compromise agreement.

Bill Colvin and John Murphy left after the year-end. Bill Colvin did not receive any compensation payment on termination. Under the terms
of the compromise agreement signed with John Murphy he received a cash payment of £128,330 (equivalent to four months salary plus
full car allowance), a payment to his pension plan of £52,500, and a year’s entitlement to health cover. He continued to be entitled to
receive a bonus for the financial year ending on 28 September 2008 subject to achievement of the performance criteria agreed by the
Remuneration Committee for that financial year. As the performance criteria have not been met no further payment is due.

Philip Scott, Graham Sizer and John Murphy were all considered good leavers for the purposes of the first award under the PSP. As noted
above those awards have now lapsed.
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A summary of the specific terms of the Executive Directors’ service contracts is included in the table below:

Director Effective Un-expired Notice
date term period

J Buchan 1 January 2009 Indefinite 12 months
R Midmer 1 July 2008 Indefinite 12 months
K Foulkes 3 July 2006 Indefinite 12 months

Outside Appointments
Executive Directors are permitted to accept or retain (pre-existing) non-executive appointments outside the Company, subject to
permission from the Committee and provided there are no conflicts of interest. Such appointments can enhance Directors’ experience
and value to the Company. Fees for such appointments are normally retained by the individual Director. Since his appointment until
28 September 2008 Richard Midmer retained £11,000 in respect of non-executive appointments. Kamma Foulkes has not received
any fees for non-executive appointments.

Non-Executives
The Non-Executive Directors have letters of appointment with the Company. The terms of the letters of appointment for the Non-Executive
Directors are subject to the provisions of the Articles. All such appointments are for an initial term of three years.

The Remuneration Committee make recommendations on the level of fees payable to the Non-Executive Directors which are set by the
Board as a whole. Under the current letters of appointment, the Chairman receives an annual fee of £125,000. The Committee has approved
a one-off payment to the Chairman of £90,000 to reflect his additional temporary responsibilities since the summer. All other Non-Executive
Directors receive an annual fee of £45,000. With the exception of the chairman of the Nomination Committee, the Non-Executive Directors
also receive an annual fee of £7,500 for each committee of the Board which they chair. All Non-Executive Directors receive reimbursement
of business expenses incurred in the proper performance of their duties.

The appointment of each of the Non-Executive Directors is terminable on one month’s notice, is subject to the retirement by rotation
provisions in the Articles and does not give rise to any entitlement to compensation in respect of their termination.

Directors’ Remuneration (audited)
Total Pension

Compensation emoluments contributions
Salary Annual Benefits for loss

or fees bonus in kind of office 2008 2007 2008 2007
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Executive
P Scott* 95 – 4 – 99 630 – –
W Colvin** 415 – 14 – 429 125 – –
J Murphy 350 – 16 – 366 526 52 45
K Foulkes 75 – 3 – 78 – 11 –
G Sizer 163 – 6 – 169 526 22 45
J Lock 92 – 5 83 180 – 10 –
R Midmer 96 385 4 – 485 – 14 –

Non-Executive
R Miles 152 – – – 152 52 – –
C Fisher 56 – – – 56 52 – –
Baroness Morgan of Huyton 45 – – – 45 45 – –
N Hollendoner 36 – – – 36 – – –

1,575 385 52 83 2,095 1,956 109 90

* The salary of P Scott comprises £84,000 in salary and £11,000 of pension contributions taken as additional salary.
** The salary of W Colvin comprises £354,000 in salary and £61,000 of pension contributions taken as additional salary.
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Directors’ Interests
The Directors of the Company had the following shareholdings in the Company at each of the balance sheet dates:

2008 2007
Number of Number of
ordinary ordinary
shares of shares of
1p each 1p each

J Murphy 450,000 1,851,840
R Midmer* 59,173 –
K Foulkes* 32,751 15,000
W Colvin 1,000,000 1,202,400
R Miles 163,837 44,444
C Fisher 50,000 22,222
Baroness Morgan of Huyton 2,222 2,222
N Hollendoner* 15,919 3,419

* Comparative figures are stated as at date of appointment.

Performance Share Plan
Interests of Directors in the plan are:

At At
1 October 28 September

2007 Granted Vested Lapsed 2008 End of
Number Number Number Number Number vesting period

J Murphy 150,000 – – 150,000 – 4 September 2009
J Murphy* – 114,130 – – 114,130 17 January 2011
W Colvin* – 142,663 – – 142,663 17 January 2011
K Foulkes 66,667 – – 66,667 – 4 September 2009
K Foulkes – 39,130 – – 39,130 17 January 2011

* J Murphy and W Colvin’s awards lapsed on the date of their resignations which happened after the year end.

The Company’s closing share price on 28 September 2008 was 116p, whilst the highest and lowest, during the period, was 606p
and 78p, respectively.

The above chart shows the Group’s relative TSR performance compared against the TSR performance of the FTSE 250 index constituents,
excluding Investment Trusts. TSR performance was chosen as it is a measure of an investor’s total return on a stock, taking account of both
the Capital gain and dividends.

Christopher Fisher Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
9 December 2008
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Southern
Cross Healthcare Group PLC (Group)
We have audited the Group financial statements of Southern Cross Healthcare Group PLC for the 52-week period ended 28 September
2008 which comprise the consolidated income statement, the consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated cash flow statement, the
consolidated statement of change in Shareholders’ equity and the related notes. These Group financial statements have been prepared
under the accounting policies set out therein.

We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of Southern Cross Healthcare Group PLC for the 52 weeks ended
28 September 2008 and on the information in the Directors’ remuneration report that is described as having been audited.

Respective Responsibilities of Directors and Auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the Group financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the statement of Directors’ responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the Group financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s
members as a body in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this
opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands
it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Group financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the Group financial
statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We also report to
you whether in our opinion the information given in the Directors’ report is consistent with the Group financial statements. The information
given in the Directors’ report includes that specific information presented in the operational and financial reviews that is cross referred
from the activities of the Group section of the Directors’ report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit,
or if information specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the corporate governance statement reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the Combined
Code (2006) specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not
required to consider whether the Board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited Group financial
statements. The other information comprises only the Directors’ report, the unaudited part of the remuneration report, the Chairman’s
statement, the operational review, the financial review and the corporate governance statement. We consider the implications
for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the Group financial statements.
Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of Audit Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the Group financial statements.
It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the Directors in the preparation of the Group
financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances, consistently applied and
adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to
provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the Group financial statements are free from material misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation
of information in the Group financial statements.
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Opinion
In our opinion:

� the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, of the state
of the Group’s affairs as at 28 September 2008 and of its loss and cash flows for the 52 weeks then ended;

� the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS
Regulation; and

� the information given in the Directors’ report is consistent with the Group financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Newcastle upon Tyne
9 December 2008

Southern Cross Healthcare Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2008 43



Consolidated Income Statement – IFRS

52 weeks 52 weeks
ended ended

28 September 30 September
2008 2007

Note £’m £’m

Revenue 3 889.4 731.9
Home payroll costs 3 (500.6) (409.0)
Home running costs 3 (113.1) (92.7)

Home EBITDAR1 before central costs 3 275.7 230.2
Rent

Charge for rental amounts currently payable (171.1) (138.9)
Charge for future minimum rental increases (50.5) (43.5)

Total rent 3 (221.6) (182.4)
Home EBITDA2 before central costs 54.1 47.8
Central costs (26.5) (26.0)
Other operating income – 1.5

Adjusted EBITDA3 before charge for future minimum rental increases 78.1 66.8
Charge for future minimum rental increases 20 (50.5) (43.5)

EBITDA 27.6 23.3
(Loss)/profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment and subsidiary undertakings 4 (9.6) 0.8
Impairment of freehold assets held for resale 4 (4.5) –
Depreciation 10 (17.6) (13.2)
Amortisation 12 (1.1) 1.0

Operating (loss)/income 3,5 (5.2) 11.9

Finance costs 6 (11.2) (10.2)
Exceptional finance costs 6 (6.9) –

Total finance costs 6 (18.1) (10.2)

Finance income 6 0.4 1.3

(Loss)/profit before taxation (22.9) 3.0
Taxation 7 4.9 (1.1)

(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company 24 (18.0) 1.9

Pence Pence
Note per share per share

(Loss)/earnings per share attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
Basic 9 (9.57) 0.96

Diluted 9 (9.57) 0.96

All of the above activities relate to continuing operations.

1 EBITDAR represents earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation, loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and subsidiary undertakings, impairment
of freehold assets held for resale and rent.

2 EBITDA represents earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation, loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and subsidiary undertakings and impairment
of freehold assets held for resale.

3 Adjusted EBITDA represents EBITDA after adding back the charge for future minimum rental increases.
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30 September
28 September 2007

2008 restated
Note £’m £’m

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 121.3 95.5
Goodwill 11 218.5 208.8
Other intangible assets 12 – 0.8
Deferred tax assets 22 41.2 25.1
Other non-current assets 13 3.3 3.0

Total non-current assets 384.3 333.2

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 14 2.2 14.9
Trade receivables 15 44.6 39.8
Inventories 16 2.4 2.1
Property assets held for sale 13 36.1 141.0
Other current assets 15 9.7 7.8

Total current assets 95.0 205.6

Total assets 3 479.3 538.8

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Short-term financial liabilities 18 (97.4) (134.7)
Corporation tax payable (8.8) (7.8)
Trade and other payables 17 (91.2) (80.2)

Total current liabilities (197.4) (222.7)

Non-current liabilities
Long-term financial liabilities 18 (1.3) (51.5)
Provisions and similar obligations 19 (9.4) (11.3)
Deferred government grants (3.4) (1.3)
Future minimum rental payable 20 (157.7) (107.2)

Total non-current liabilities (171.8) (171.3)

Total liabilities 3 (369.2) (394.0)

Net assets 110.1 144.8

Equity
Ordinary shares 23 1.9 1.9
Share premium 24 161.5 161.5
Accumulated deficit 24 (53.3) (18.6)

Total equity 25 110.1 144.8

The financial statements on pages 44 to 83 were approved by the Board of Directors on 9 December 2008:

R Miles Chairman R Midmer Finance Director

Consolidated Balance Sheet – IFRS
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement – IFRS

52 weeks 52 weeks
ended ended

28 September 30 September
2008 2007

Note £’m £’m

Cash flows from operations
Cash generated from operations 26 71.4 70.3
Interest received 0.3 0.4
Interest and bank loan arrangement fees paid (11.5) (9.5)
Tax paid (10.6) (4.3)

Net cash generated from operations 49.6 56.9

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of subsidiary undertakings net of cash acquired 29 (55.2) (56.6)
Sales of subsidiary undertakings 4 130.3 72.6
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (62.0) (69.9)
Receipts from the sale of property, plant and equipment 4 51.6 15.4

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities 64.7 (38.5)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of borrowings (250.6) (258.0)
New borrowings 140.7 239.8
Capital element of finance leases 28 (0.6) (0.4)
Dividends paid 8 (16.5) (6.8)

Net cash used in financing activities (127.0) (25.4)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (12.7) (7.0)
Opening cash and cash equivalents 14.9 21.9

Closing cash and cash equivalents 14 2.2 14.9

Note
Included within the purchase of property, plant and equipment are the purchase of freehold properties totalling £nil (2007 – £31.8m) and development expenditure on new
properties totalling £25.0m (2007 – £14.8m).
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Share premium Accumulated Total
Share capital account deficit equity

£’m £’m £’m £’m

Balance at 2 October 2006 1.9 161.5 (15.4) 148.0

Share-based payments (including deferred tax of £0.2m) – – 1.7 1.7
Ordinary dividends paid – – (6.8) (6.8)
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders – – 1.9 1.9

Balance at 30 September 2007 1.9 161.5 (18.6) 144.8

Share-based payments (note 35) – – (0.2) (0.2)
Ordinary dividends paid – – (16.5) (16.5)
Loss attributable to ordinary shareholders – – (18.0) (18.0)

Balance at 28 September 2008 1.9 161.5 (53.3) 110.1

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity – IFRS



1 General Information

Southern Cross Healthcare Group PLC (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) are engaged in the development and
operation of care homes for the elderly and the provision of specialist services for people with physical and/or learning disabilities.

The Company is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom. The address of its registered office is
Southgate House, Archer Street, Darlington, County Durham DL3 6AH.

The Group prepares its financial information for the financial year ending on the nearest Sunday to 30 September of a given calendar year.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group represents the following:

52 weeks ended 30 September 2007
The consolidated financial information of Southern Cross Healthcare Group PLC, including:

� the consolidated financial information of Southern Cross Healthcare Group PLC and its subsidiaries for the period from 2 October 2006
to 30 September 2007.

52 weeks ended 28 September 2008
The consolidated financial information of Southern Cross Healthcare Group PLC, including:

� the consolidated financial information of Southern Cross Healthcare Group PLC and its subsidiaries for the period from 1 October 2007
to 28 September 2008.

The principal subsidiaries within the Group are disclosed in note 38.

2 Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of Preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
as adopted by the European Union, IFRIC interpretations and the Companies Act 1985 applicable to Companies reporting under IFRS.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
financial instruments and share-based payments at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are goodwill,
property assets held for resale and provision for onerous leases. These are discussed further below.

From 1 October 2007 the following standard, amendments and interpretations became effective and were adopted by the Group:

IFRIC10 Interim financial reporting and impairment
IFRIC11 Group and treasury share transactions
IFRS4 Insurance contracts revised implementation guidance
IFRS7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
IAS1 Amendment – Presentation of financial statements

The adoption of these amendments and interpretations has not had a significant impact on the Group’s loss for the year or equity.
IFRS7 has impacted the disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2 Accounting Policies continued

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published and are mandatory to the Group’s
accounting periods beginning on or after 29 September 2008 or later periods, but the Group has not early adopted them:

IFRIC12 Service concession arrangements
IFRIC13 Customer loyalty programmes
IFRIC14 The limit on a defined benefit assets, minimum funding requirements and their interaction
IFRIC15 Agreements for the construction of real estate
IFRIC16 Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation
IFRS8 Operating segments
IFRS3 Revised – Business combinations
IAS23 Revised – Borrowing costs
IAS27 Revised – Consolidated and separate financial statements
IFRS1 Amendment – First time adoption of international financial reporting standards
IFRS2 Amendment – Share-based payments
IAS1 Amendment – Presentation of financial statements
IAS28 Amendment – Interest and associates
IAS31 Amendment – Interests in joint ventures
IAS32 Amendment – Financial Instruments: Presentation
IAS39 Amendment – Financial Instruments: Recognition and measurement

Amendments to the following standards arising from the May 2008 Annual Improvements process: IFRS5, IAS1, IAS16, IAS19, IAS20, IAS23,
IAS27, IAS28, IAS29, IAS31, IAS36, IAS38, IAS39, IAS40 and IAS41.

IFRIC12, IFRIC13 and IFRIC14 are effective for the Group from 29 September 2008. IFRS3 Revised is effective for business combinations
taking place on or after 1 July 2009. The other standards, amendments and revisions are effective for the Group from 28 September 2009.
The adoption of these standards, amendments and interpretations is not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s profits or
equity. The adoptions may affect disclosures in the Group’s financial statements.

2.2 Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
(its subsidiaries) made up to 30 September 2007 and 28 September 2008. Control is achieved where the Company has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The existence and effect of potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. On acquisition, the assets and
liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at their fair values at the date of acquisition. Intangible assets in acquired
companies which concern resident contracts are recognised and amortised over periods of up to three years. Any excess of the cost
of acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired is capitalised as goodwill. Goodwill is not amortised; instead
impairment tests are undertaken annually, and any impairment is charged to the income statement. Any deficiency of the cost of
acquisition below the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired (i.e. discount on acquisition) is credited to the income statement
in the period of acquisition.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the period are included in the consolidated income statement from the effective
date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with those used by the Group. All intra-group transactions,
balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

2.3 Revenue Recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of fee income relating to the provision of care services, net of price reductions directly related to sales.
Fee income comprises care home fees which are recognised when delivery of service is completed.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured and it is probable that future economic benefits will
flow to the Group.
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2 Accounting Policies continued

2.4 Home Payroll Costs
Home payroll costs represent payroll costs directly incurred at home level, including costs incurred in respect of the use of agency labour.

2.5 Home Running Costs
Home running costs represent costs of items directly incurred at home level, including food and kitchen supplies, medical supplies, utilities,
maintenance and other running costs of the home.

2.6 Home EBITDAR Before Central Costs
Home EBITDAR before central costs represents profitability at a home level after taking account of home payroll and home running costs,
but before rental charges on operating leases, central costs and depreciation on home assets.

2.7 Central Costs
Central costs represent costs of head office support functions, including central payroll costs, other costs not directly attributable to a home
level and certain other payroll costs.

2.8 EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA
EBITDA represents earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment and
subsidiary undertakings. Adjusted EBITDA represents EBITDA after adding back exceptional central costs and the charge for future minimum
rental increases.

The Group believes that EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA (and measures derived therefrom including Home EBITDAR before central costs and
Home EBITDA before central costs) facilitate operating performance comparisons from period to period and company to company by
eliminating potential differences caused by variations in capital structures (affecting finance income and costs), tax positions, the age and
book depreciation of property, plant and equipment (affecting relative depreciation expense) and intangible assets identified (affecting
amortisation expense).

2.9 Exceptional Items
Exceptional items are events or transactions that fall within the activities of the Group and which, by virtue of their size or incidence,
have been disclosed in order to improve a reader’s understanding of the financial information.

2.10 Use of Boxes in Income Statement
Boxes have been used in the income statement to provide sub-analyses of items in order to improve a reader’s understanding of the
financial information.

2.11 Segmental Reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject to risks and returns
that are different from those of other business segments. A geographical segment is engaged in providing products or services within
a particular economic environment that are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of segments operating in other
economic environments.

2.12 Other Income
Other income relates to management income received in respect of a portfolio of homes operated by the Group on behalf of a third party,
as well as other operating income. Income is recognised on completion of the management service on an accruals basis.

2.13 Share-based Compensation
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted
and is recognised as an expense over the vesting period, which ends on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled
to the award. Fair value is determined by an external valuer using an appropriate pricing model. In valuing equity settled transactions,
no account is taken of any vesting conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares of the Company (market conditions).

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market condition,
which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions
are satisfied.

At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense is calculated, representing the extent to which the vesting period has
expired and management’s best estimate of the achievement or otherwise of non-market conditions number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest or in the case of an instrument subject to a market condition, be treated as vesting as described above. The movement
in cumulative expense since the previous balance sheet date is recognised in the income statement, with a corresponding entry in equity.
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2 Accounting Policies continued

2.14 Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging
The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps to hedge its risks associated with interest rate fluctuations.
Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently measured at fair value.

Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative. Fair value movements
are recognised in the income statement.

2.15 Leases
Assets held under finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased
item, are capitalised at inception of the lease, with a corresponding liability being recognised for the value of the leased asset or, if lower,
the present value of the minimum lease payments. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated
useful economic life or the lease term.

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases and
rentals payable are charged in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term where property lease contracts contain
guaranteed minimum incremental rental payments, the total committed cost is determined and is calculated and amortised on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. The charge for rentals currently payable is the actual amount payable, in the period, by the Group
for its operating leases. The charge for future minimum rental increases reflects the impact of recognising future-fixed committed rental
increases on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

2.16 Onerous Leases and Contracts
Provision is made for future operating lease payments of vacant care homes for the full remaining lease term or up to the expected point
at which the lease is expected to be sublet. Calculating provisions for onerous leases requires an estimation of future lease payments and
other associated costs over the remaining period of the lease. Furthermore, a suitable discount rate to calculate the present value of the
future cash flows must be selected.

2.17 Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost
includes the original purchase price of the asset and costs attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use.
Borrowing costs attributable to assets under construction are recognised as an expense as incurred. No depreciation is charged on
assets under construction.

Depreciation is provided on all property, plant and equipment at rates calculated to write off the cost, less estimated residual value based
on prices prevailing at the balance sheet date, of each asset on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life as follows:

� Freehold buildings – 2% per annum
� Short leasehold property – over life of lease
� Motor vehicles – 25% per annum
� Fixtures and fittings – 14% per annum
� Computer equipment – 331/3% per annum

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount. Gains and losses on disposals are recognised within central costs, in the income statement.

2.18 Intangibles
a) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable assets of the
acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Separately recognised goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Testing for impairment requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash generating units to which
the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use amount requires management to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows and to select a suitable discount rate to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Further details are given in note 11.
Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill
relating to the entity sold.
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2 Accounting Policies continued

After initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses, with the carrying value being reviewed
for impairment, at least annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the related cash generating units monitored by management,
at the segment level. Where the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is less than its carrying amount, including goodwill,
an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement.

b) Other Intangibles
Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

An intangible asset acquired as part of a business combination is recognised outside of goodwill if the asset is separable or arises
from contractual or other legal rights and its fair value can be measured reliably. Intangible assets with a finite life are amortised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

� Resident contracts – three years

The carrying value of intangibles is reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value
may not be recoverable.

2.19 Employee Benefit Costs
Staff costs comprise salaries, wages and pensions for the Group’s staff as well as other staff costs. The Group operates defined contribution
pension plans, which are plans under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee
service in the current and prior periods. Contributions are recognised as employee benefit expenses as they fall due.

2.20 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in first-out (FIFO) method.
Where necessary, impairment is made for obsolete, slow moving and defective stocks.

2.21 Taxation Including Deferred Tax
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been in force during the period.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance
sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is calculated at the
average tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised.

Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to reserves,
in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in reserves.
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2 Accounting Policies continued

2.22 Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash and balances in accounts at no or short notice. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings
in current liabilities; however they are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the cash flow statement.

2.23 Finance Costs
Financial costs include interest and amortisation of loan arrangement fees. Loan arrangement fees are amortised evenly using the effective
rate method.

2.24 Finance Income
Finance income is accrued on a time basis by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable.

2.25 Receivables
Trade receivables defined in accordance with IAS 39 are recorded initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less provision for impairment for any doubtful amounts. A provision for impairment of trade receivables
is established when there is evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the
receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of future cash flows
discounted at the effective interest rate. The movement in the provision is recognised in the income statement.

Any other trade receivables are recognised at their original amount less an allowance for any doubtful amounts. An allowance is made
when collection of the full amount is no longer considered probable.

2.26 Other Payables
Other payables primarily comprise holiday pay liabilities, other taxes and interest payable, which are measured at the best estimate
of the expenditure required to settle the obligation.

2.27 Government Grants
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and the Group will comply with all attached conditions. Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment are included in
non-current liabilities as deferred government grants and are credited to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the expected
lives of the related assets.

2.28 Property Assets Held for Sale
Property assets are freehold properties acquired through acquisitions or developed by the Group that are expected to be sold within one
year. All property assets held for resale are measured at the lower of carrying value and fair value, less costs to sell. Determining the fair
value of the property assets requires valuation and estimation techniques to be used. When assessing the fair value, management consider
a number of factors such as including estimated sale price, internal valuations and future expected yields.

2.29 Trade Payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.30 Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost;
any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over
the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

2.31 Share Capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity
as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.32 Dividend Distribution
Final dividend distribution to the Company’s Shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the period
in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s Shareholders. Interim dividends are recognised when paid.
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Financial Risk Management

2.33 Financial Risk Factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including cash flow interest rate risk); liquidity risk; and credit risk.
The Group’s overall risk management strategy focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by the Group Risk Management Committee under policies approved by the Board of Directors.

2.34 Market Risk
Cash Flow Interest Rate Risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings which are issued at variable rates that expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk.

The interest exposure of the Group is managed within the constraints of the Group’s business plan and the financial covenants under its
facilities. The Group aims to reduce exposure to the effect of interest rate movements by hedging an appropriate amount of interest rate
exposure. The impact of movements in interest rates is managed, where considered appropriate, through the use of floating rate debt
and interest rate swaps.

The Group has performed calculations to analyse its interest rate exposure taking into consideration refinancing, renewal of existing
positions and alternative financing. Based on these scenarios, the Group calculates the impact on profit and loss of a defined interest rate
shift. The scenarios are run only for liabilities that represent the major interest-bearing positions.

The impact on post tax profit of a 1% shift would be a maximum increase of £0.8m (2007 – £0.8m) or decrease of £0.8m (2007 – £0.8m),
respectively.

2.35 Liquidity Risk
As regards liquidity, the policy of the Group has throughout the year been to maintain a mix of short and long-term borrowings with
short-term flexibility achieved through overdraft and revolving credit facilities.

2.36 Credit Risk
Credit risk is managed on a Group basis. Credit risk arises from cash and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit
exposures to residents, including outstanding receivables. For banks and financial institutions, only independently rated parties with a
minimum rating of “A” are accepted.

a) Capital Risk Management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for Shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to Shareholders, return capital
to Shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

b) Fair Value Estimation
Interest rate swap contracts have been marked to market to produce fair value figures.

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values. The fair value
of long-term borrowings approximate to the carrying value reported in the balance sheet, as the majority are variable rate borrowings.

c) Operating Lease Rental Increases
The majority of the Group’s homes are subject to operating rental lease agreements which incorporate future increases to rental amounts
currently payable. The Group’s longer-term cash position depends upon it continuing to increase Adjusted EBITDA ahead of future increases
to rental amounts currently payable.
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3 Segmental Analysis

At 28 September 2008, the Group has two identifiable business segments: Elderly Care and Specialist. All operations of the Group are
carried out in the United Kingdom and therefore no geographical segmentation is disclosed. Consequently, the Group has considered
business segmentation as the primary segmentation, with two reportable segments, Elderly Care and Specialist.

Revenue, (loss)/earnings before taxation and total equity of the Group are wholly attributable to the operation of care homes and arise
solely within the United Kingdom. Included below is segmental analysis of average occupancy and available beds:

52-week period ended 28 September 2008
Elderly Care Specialist Total

Number Number Number

Available beds – average
Acquisitions 2,271 52 2,323
Continuing operations 33,316 987 34,303

Segment available beds 35,587 1,039 36,626

Occupied beds
Acquisitions 2,004 45 2,049
Continuing operations 29,877 858 30,735

Segment occupied beds 31,881 903 32,784

Elderly Care Specialist Total
% % %

Occupancy – average
Acquisitions 88.2 86.5 88.2
Continuing operations 89.7 86.9 89.6

Segment occupancy 89.6 86.9 89.5

£ £ £

Average weekly fee
Acquisitions 471 1,111 485
Continuing operations 512 944 524

Segment average weekly fee 510 952 522

Average occupancy for the Group’s mature homes (excluding new developments, or refurbished homes that have been trading for less
than 12 months) was 90.5% (2007 – 91.1%).
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52-week period ended 30 September 2007
Elderly Care Specialist Total

Number Number Number

Available beds – average
Acquisitions 3,505 16 3,521
Continuing operations 26,647 925 27,572

Segment available beds 30,152 941 31,093

Occupied beds
Acquisitions 3,066 12 3,078
Continuing operations 24,331 798 25,129

Segment occupied beds 27,397 810 28,207

Elderly Care Specialist Total
% % %

Occupancy – average
Acquisitions 87.5 75.0 87.4
Continuing operations 91.3 86.3 91.1

Segment occupancy 90.9 86.1 90.7

£ £ £

Average weekly fee
Acquisitions 502 962 504
Continuing operations 485 911 498

Segment average weekly fee 487 912 499
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Primary Reporting Format – Business Segments
The segment results for the 52-week period ended 28 September 2008 are as follows:

52-week period ended 28 September 2008
Elderly Care Specialist Total

£’m £’m £’m

Revenue
Acquisitions 49.1 2.6 51.7
Continuing operations 795.6 42.1 837.7

Segment revenue 844.7 44.7 889.4

Home payroll costs
Acquisitions (27.5) (1.8) (29.3)
Continuing operations (444.9) (26.4) (471.3)

Segment Home payroll costs (472.4) (28.2) (500.6)

Home running costs
Acquisitions (8.4) (0.4) (8.8)
Continuing operations (99.1) (5.2) (104.3)

Segment Home running costs (107.5) (5.6) (113.1)

Home EBITDAR before central costs
Acquisitions 13.2 0.4 13.6
Continuing operations 251.6 10.5 262.1

Segment Home EBITDAR before central costs 264.8 10.9 275.7

Home EBITDAR before central costs (%)
Acquisitions 26.9 15.4 26.3
Continuing operations 31.6 24.9 31.3

Segment Home EBITDAR before central costs (%) 31.3 24.4 31.0

Total rent
Acquisitions (12.9) (0.1) (13.0)
Continuing operations (199.4) (9.2) (208.6)

Segment rent (212.3) (9.3) (221.6)

Home EBITDA before central costs
Acquisitions 0.3 0.3 0.6
Continuing operations 52.2 1.3 53.5

Segment Home EBITDA before central costs 52.5 1.6 54.1

Other expenses:
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and subsidiary undertakings
and impairment of freehold assets held for sale (13.9) (0.2) (14.1)
Depreciation (16.5) (1.1) (17.6)
Amortisation (1.1) – (1.1)
Central payroll costs (18.9) (0.7) (19.6)
Unallocated expenses:
Central costs (6.9)

Operating loss (5.2)

During the period ended 28 September 2008 the Group purchased property, plant and equipment totalling £36.5m, of which £32.8m was
in respect of the Elderly Care segment, £1.5m was in relation to the Specialist Care segment and £2.2m was unallocated.

The analysis above includes the charge in the period for future minimum rental increases. Excluding the impact of this charge, Home EBITDA
before central costs is as follows overleaf:
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Elderly Care Specialist Total

£’m £’m £’m

Home EBITDA before the charge for future minimum rental increases and central costs:
Acquisitions 3.0 0.3 3.3
Continuing operations 98.0 3.3 101.3

Segment Home EBITDA before the charge for future minimum rental increases and central costs 101.0 3.6 104.6

The segment results for the 52-week period ended 30 September 2007 are as follows:

52-week period ended 30 September 2007
Elderly Care Specialist Total

£’m £’m £’m

Revenue
Acquisitions 80.1 0.6 80.7
Continuing operations 613.4 37.8 651.2

Segment revenue 693.5 38.4 731.9

Home payroll costs
Acquisitions (45.8) (0.4) (46.2)
Continuing operations (339.5) (23.3) (362.8)

Segment Home payroll costs (385.3) (23.7) (409.0)

Home running costs
Acquisitions (6.8) (0.1) (6.9)
Continuing operations (82.3) (3.5) (85.8)

Segment Home running costs (89.1) (3.6) (92.7)

Home EBITDAR before central costs
Acquisitions 27.5 0.1 27.6
Continuing operations 191.6 11.0 202.6

Segment Home EBITDAR before central costs 219.1 11.1 230.2

Home EBITDAR before central costs (%)
Acquisitions 34.3 16.7 34.2
Continuing operations 31.2 29.1 31.1

Segment Home EBITDAR before central costs (%) 31.6 28.9 31.5

Total rent
Acquisitions (13.9) (0.2) (14.1)
Continuing operations (160.8) (7.5) (168.3)

Segment rent (174.7) (7.7) (182.4)

Home EBITDA before central costs
Acquisitions 13.6 (0.1) 13.5
Continuing operations 30.8 3.5 34.3

Segment Home EBITDA before central costs 44.4 3.4 47.8

Other expenses:
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment and
subsidiary undertakings 0.8 – 0.8
Depreciation (12.4) (0.8) (13.2)
Amortisation 1.0 – 1.0
Central payroll costs (19.5) (0.8) (20.3)
Unallocated expenses:
Central costs (5.7)
Unallocated operating income 1.5

Operating income 11.9

Southern Cross Healthcare Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2008 57



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 Segmental Analysis continued

During the period ended 30 September 2007 the Group purchased property, plant and equipment totalling £25.0m, of which £20.1m was
in respect of the Elderly Care segment, £2.4m was in relation to the Specialist Care segment and £2.5m was unallocated.

The analysis above includes the charge in the period for future minimum rental increases. Excluding the impact of this charge, Home EBITDA
before central costs is as follows:

Elderly Care Specialist Total
£’m £’m £’m

Home EBITDA before the charge for future minimum rental increases and central costs:
Acquisitions 13.9 (0.3) 13.6
Continuing operations 72.9 4.8 77.7

Segment Home EBITDA before the charge for future minimum rental increases and central costs 86.8 4.5 91.3

The segment assets and liabilities at 28 September 2008 are as follows:

As at 28 September 2008
Elderly Care Specialist Total Unallocated Total

£’m £’m £’m £’m £’m

Assets 442.1 37.1 479.2 0.1 479.3
Liabilities (299.0) (13.7) (312.7) (56.5) (369.2)

Segment assets and liabilities are reconciled to entity assets and liabilities as follows:
Assets Liabilities
£’m £’m

Segment assets/liabilities 479.2 (312.7)
Unallocated:
Current tax – (6.5)
Current borrowings – (48.7)
Non-current borrowings – (1.3)
Derivatives 0.1 –

Total 479.3 (369.2)

The segment assets and liabilities at 30 September 2007 for the 52-week period then ended are as follows:

As at 30 September 2007
Elderly Care Specialist Total Unallocated Total

£’m £’m £’m £’m £’m

Assets 510.0 28.4 538.4 0.4 538.8
Liabilities (314.3) (5.7) (320.0) (74.0) (394.0)
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Segment assets and liabilities are reconciled to entity assets and liabilities as follows:
Assets Liabilities

£’m £’m

Segment assets/liabilities 538.4 (320.0)
Unallocated:
Current tax – (7.8)
Current borrowings – (16.1)
Non-current borrowings – (50.1)
Derivatives 0.4 –

Total 538.8 (394.0)

4 Sale of Subsidiary Undertakings, Property, Plant and Equipment and Impairment of Freehold Assets
Held for Resale

Sale of Subsidiary Undertakings
On 14 November 2007, the Group disposed of the Avery sub-group for a consideration of £94.8m net of professional fees, consisting
of 12 subsidiaries and holding the freehold interests of the 15 homes acquired from Avery Healthcare in June 2007 and realised a profit
on the transaction of £nil.

On 21 December 2007, the Group disposed of Dolphin Propco Limited and Dolphin Scotland Properties Limited and freehold interests
for £21.5m net of professional fees, being the enterprise value on acquisition of the portfolio and realised a profit on disposal of £nil.

On 12 March 2008, the Group disposed of Southern Cross (Belmont Subsidco) Limited for £14.0m net of professional fees, being the
enterprise value on acquisition of the portfolio and realised a profit on disposal of £nil.

Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment
During the year the Group disposed of freehold property and related fixtures and fittings for a net cash consideration totalling £51.6m.
The related assets had a net book value of £60.9m, resulting in a loss on disposal of £9.3m.

Other assets disposed during the year resulted in a loss on disposal totalling £0.3m.

Impairment of Freehold Assets Held for Resale
The Group has reviewed the carrying values of freehold properties held for resale. Following this review, a number of properties were
found to have a fair value lower than their carrying value, as a result the carrying value of the related freeholds has been written down
by £4.5m.
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5 Operating (Loss)/Income

52 weeks 52 weeks
ended ended

28 September 30 September
2008 2007
£’m £’m

The following items have been included in arriving at operating (loss)/income:
Staff costs (note 30) 510.9 422.3
Operating lease rentals 221.6 182.4
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment – owned assets (note 10) 17.1 12.9
Consumable expensed through home running costs 10.2 7.8
Depreciation on assets held under finance leases (note 10) 0.5 0.3
Amortisation of government grants (0.4) –
Amortisation of intangibles (note 12) 0.8 1.6
Reversal/(release) of negative goodwill (note 12) 0.3 (2.6)
Other operating income – (1.5)

Other operating income relates to management fees receivable in relation to a portfolio of homes owned by a third party and other
operating income receivable.

Services Provided by the Group’s Auditor
During the year, the Group obtained the following services from the Group’s Auditor at costs as detailed below:

52 weeks 52 weeks
ended ended

28 September 30 September
2008 2007
£’m £’m

Fees payable to the Group’s auditor for the audit of the Group’s annual accounts 0.2 0.2
Fees payable to the Group’s auditor for other services:
– auditing of undertakings pursuant to legislation 0.1 0.1
– services relating to corporate finance and acquisitions – 0.2
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6 Finance Costs and Finance Income

52 weeks 52 weeks
ended ended

28 September 30 September
2008 2007
£’m £’m

Interest payable on bank borrowings 10.0 7.4
Interest payable on loan notes 0.2 0.3
Amortisation of loan arrangement fees 0.1 2.2
Fair value of financial instruments 0.2 –
Other finance costs 0.7 0.3

Finance costs 11.2 10.2

Loan arrangement fees and associated costs 6.9 –

Exceptional finance costs 6.9 –

Fair value of financial instruments – (0.3)
Bank interest receivable (0.4) (1.0)

Finance income (0.4) (1.3)

Finance costs – net 17.7 8.9

Exceptional finance costs of £6.9m (2007 – £nil) relate to loan arrangement fees and associated costs incurred by the Group as a result
of the breach of its banking facilities including £0.7m paid to Hawkpoint Partners Limited. Further details are given in note 33.

7 Taxation

52 weeks 52 weeks
ended ended

28 September 30 September
2008 2007
£’m £’m

Current tax
– current period 10.6 12.8
– prior period 0.5 0.9
Deferred tax (note 22)
– current period (12.4) (11.7)
– prior period (3.6) (0.9)

Taxation (4.9) 1.1

As from 1 April 2008, the UK Corporation Tax rate changed from 30% to 28%. The current rate applicable to the Group for the period
ended 28 September 2008 was 29%. Deferred tax relating to temporary timing differences that reverse after 1 April 2008 have been
measured at a tax rate of 28% as these are the rates that will apply on reversal.
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7 Taxation continued

The tax for the period differs from the standard rate of corporation tax in the United Kingdom as follows:
52 weeks 52 weeks

ended ended
28 September 30 September

2008 2007
£’m £’m

(Loss)/profit before taxation (22.9) 3.0
(Loss)/profit before taxation multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax
in the United Kingdom of 29% (2007 – 30%) (6.6) 0.9
Effects of:
Amortisation of intangibles – (0.3)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 0.3 0.3
Rate differences 0.5 2.2
Other 0.9 (2.0)

Tax (credit)/charge for the period (4.9) 1.1

The tax charge is expected to be lower than the standard rate in future periods, as the impact of non-deductible intangibles and depreciation
is expected to be outweighed by benefits from the use of tax assets, including brought-forward losses and capital allowance pools.

8 Dividends Paid and Proposed

A final dividend of 5p per ordinary share, totalling £9.4m, in respect of the 52-week period ended 30 September 2007, was paid on
11 February 2008.

The Directors declared an interim dividend of 3.75p (2007 – 2.5p) per ordinary share, totalling £7.1m (2007 – £4.7m) and this was paid
on 20 June 2008 (2007 – 22 June 2007).

The Directors have decided not to recommend a final dividend for the year ended 28 September 2008.

9 (Loss)/Earnings per Ordinary Share

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the (loss)/profit for the period attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent,
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the (loss)/profit for the period attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period plus the weighted average number of ordinary
shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The following reflects the share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share calculations:
52 weeks 52 weeks

ended ended
28 September 30 September

2008 2007
Number Number

Basic weighted average number of shares (excluding treasury shares) 188,067,377 188,067,377
Dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Employee share options Nil 633,761

Diluted weighted average number of shares 188,067,377 188,701,138
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9 (Loss)/Earnings per Ordinary Share continued

The Group presents exceptional items and future minimum rental increases on the face of the income statement. Items that are
considered exceptional, by virtue of their size or incidence, are disclosed in order to improve a reader’s understanding of the financial
information. To this end, additional basic and diluted earnings per share information, including loan arrangement fees written off, is also
presented on this basis. Reconciliations of earnings and the weighted average number of ordinary shares used are set out below:

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
28 September 2008 30 September 2007

Basic Diluted Basic Diluted
per share per share per share per share

Earnings amount amount Earnings amount amount
£’m p p £’m p p

(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary Shareholders (18.0) (9.57) (9.57) 1.9 0.96 0.96
Charge for future minimum rental increases 50.5 26.85 26.85 43.5 23.12 23.04
Loan arrangement fees written off 6.9 3.67 3.67 1.9 1.03 1.03
Taxation impact of above (16.6) (8.85) (8.85) (11.4) (6.07) (6.05)

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders before
charges for future minimum rental
increases and loan arrangement fees written off
and taxation impact thereof 22.8 12.10 12.10 35.9 19.04 18.98

10 Property, Plant and Equipment

Fixtures, Short Assets
Freehold fittings and leasehold Motor under

properties equipment property vehicles construction Total
£’m £’m £’m £’m £’m £’m

Cost
At 2 October 2006 38.0 47.0 16.4 2.2 5.2 108.8

Additions 26.7 21.0 2.4 1.6 14.8 66.5
Acquisitions 33.2 1.2 0.2 – – 34.6
Transfers 3.3 0.3 1.9 – (5.5) –
Disposals – subsidiaries (73.3) – – – – (73.3)
Disposals (14.5) (1.1) – (0.3) – (15.9)

At 30 September 2007 13.4 68.4 20.9 3.5 14.5 120.7

Additions – 29.3 5.4 1.8 16.1 52.6
Acquisitions (note 29) 0.5 0.3 2.4 0.1 – 3.3
Transfers 2.3 0.8 0.5 – (3.6) –
Disposals (7.2) – – (0.1) (5.2) (12.5)

At 28 September 2008 9.0 98.8 29.2 5.3 21.8 164.1

Accumulated depreciation
At 2 October 2006 0.3 10.6 0.7 0.9 – 12.5

Charge for the period – 11.4 0.9 0.9 – 13.2
Disposals (0.1) (0.2) – (0.2) – (0.5)

At 30 September 2007 0.2 21.8 1.6 1.6 – 25.2

Charge for the period – 15.8 1.0 0.8 – 17.6
At 28 September 2008 0.2 37.6 2.6 2.4 – 42.8

Net book amount
At 28 September 2008 8.8 61.2 26.6 2.9 21.8 121.3

At 30 September 2007 13.2 46.6 19.3 1.9 14.5 95.5
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10 Property, Plant and Equipment continued

The net book value of assets held under finance leases totalled £2.0m at 28 September 2008 (2007 – £1.1m). The assets related to motor
vehicles and other fixtures and fittings.

During the 52-week period ended 28 September 2008, freehold properties with a net book value of £7.2m (2007 – £14.4m) were
disposed of for a consideration totalling £7.7m, (2007 – £15.4m) realising a profit on disposal of £0.5m (2007 – £1.0m).

11 Goodwill

Group £’m

Cost
At 2 October 2006 196.0
Acquisition of Avery Healthcare Limited 7.7
Other acquisitions 5.1
At 30 September 2007 – restated 208.8
Acquisition of Bondcare Group (note 29) 2.6
Acquisition of Portland Group (note 29) 5.2
Other acquisitions (note 29) 1.9

At 28 September 2008 218.5

During the period provisional fair values, on acquisitions completed within the last 12 months, have been revisited. As a result, fair value
adjustments totalling £7.5m have been made. The adjustments made were £2.8m to reduce the carrying value of property assets held
for resale, to reflect their market value at acquisition, £4.2m in respect of provisions and £0.5m in relation to allowances for bad debts,
with a corresponding increase in goodwill as at 30 September 2007.

Impairment Test for Goodwill
Goodwill arising from acquisitions during the year primarily relates to the acquired workforce. Goodwill is not amortised but tested
annually for impairment.

For the purposes of this impairment review, goodwill is allocated to the Group’s two business segments. The recoverable amounts
of these cash generating units (CGUs) are determined based on value in use calculations. These cash flow projections are based on
pre-tax financial budgets approved by management. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the growth rates
stated below. The growth rates do not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the sector in which the Group operates.

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s two business segments as shown below:
28 September 30 September

2008 2007
£’m £’m

Elderly care 203.4 194.5
Specialist 15.1 14.3

Services relating to corporate finance and acquisitions 218.5 208.8
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11 Goodwill continued

Key assumptions used for value in use calculations of both segments:
28 September 30 September

2008 2007
£’m £’m

Growth rate 3% 3%
Discount rate (pre tax) 9% 9%

As at 28 September 2008 and 30 September 2007, no impairment charge to goodwill has been required.

12 Other Intangible Assets

Amortisation in the year charged to the income statement was £1.1m (2007 – credit £1.0m) and includes an amortisation charge on
intangible fixed assets of £0.8m (2007 – £1.6m) and negative goodwill of £0.3m (2007 – credit £2.6m). Following the fair value restatement
(note 11) the amount of goodwill released in the period ended 30 September 2007 has been reduced by £0.3m in the period ended
28 September 2008.

Resident
contracts

£’m

Cost
At 2 October 2006 and 30 September 2007 4.9

At 28 September 2008 4.9

Accumulated amortisation
At 2 October 2006 (2.5)

Charge for the period (1.6)

At 30 September 2007 (4.1)

Charge for the period (0.8)

At 28 September 2008 (4.9)

Net book amount
At 28 September 2008 –

At 30 September 2007 0.8

At 1 October 2006 2.4

Resident contracts relate to intangible assets acquired through business combinations and represent the value of resident contracts, in place,
at the time of acquisition. The intangibles are measured using an income model, incorporating the expected cash flows to be generated
from residents as at the date of acquisition.
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13 Other Assets

28 September 30 September
2008 2007
£’m £’m

Property assets held for sale – restated (note 11) 36.1 141.0
Other non-current assets 3.3 3.0

39.4 144.0

Property assets held for sale consists of 11 freehold properties with a carrying value of £36.1m which the Group expects to sell in the
near future. One of these properties has been developed by the Group, with the remaining properties being acquired through share deals.
Seven of the homes are included within the Elderly Care segment and four homes within the Specialist segment.

During the period, provisional fair values, on acquisitions completed within the last 12 months, have been revisited. As a result, fair value
adjustments totalling £2.8m have been made. The adjustment is to reduce the carrying value of property assets held for resale, to reflect
their market value at acquisition, with a corresponding increase in goodwill (note 11).

Other non-current assets relate to landlord rental security deposits which will not be contractually released within 20 years.

14 Cash and Cash Equivalents

28 September 30 September
2008 2007
£’m £’m

Cash at bank and in hand 2.2 14.9

The majority of cash balances are held by Barclays Bank PLC, whose current credit rating, as determined by Moody’s, is Aa1.

15 Trade and Other Current Assets

Trade and Other Receivables
28 September 30 September

2008 2007
£’m £’m

Trade receivables 50.6 46.6
Less: provision for impairment of receivables – restated (note 11) (6.0) (6.8)

Trade receivables – net 44.6 39.8

Other receivables 3.2 1.8
Prepayments and accrued income 6.5 6.0

Other current assets 9.7 7.8
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15 Trade and Other Current Assets continued

The fair value of trade and other receivables are as follows:
30 September

28 September 2007
2008 restated
£’m £

Trade receivables 44.6 39.8
Other receivables 3.2 1.8
Prepayments and accrued income 6.5 6.0

54.3 47.6

The ageing analysis of trade receivables and the associated provision for impairment is shown below:
28 September 2008 30 September 2007

Gross Provision for Gross Provision for
value impairment value impairment
£’m £’m £’m £’m

Not yet due 15.2 – 11.8 –
Past due 0-60 days 20.9 (0.4) 22.6 (0.3)
Past due 61-119 days 6.1 (1.1) 6.2 (1.4)
Past due 120 days 8.4 (4.5) 6.0 (5.1)

50.6 (6.0) 46.6 (6.8)

The provision for impairment for trade receivables is calculated on an individual account by account assessment based on past and current
credit history.

Movements on the Group provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:
28 September 30 September

2008 2007
£’m £’m

Opening – restated (note 11) 6.8 5.2
Provision for receivables impairment 0.9 3.8
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible (1.7) (2.2)

Closing 6.0 6.8

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The Group
does not hold any collateral as security.
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16 Inventories

28 September 30 September
2008 2007
£’m £’m

Consumables 2.4 2.1

The replacement cost of inventory does not differ materially from the costs stated above. There were no write-downs of inventory in the
52 weeks ended 28 September 2008 or the 52 weeks ended 30 September 2007.

17 Trade and Other Payables – Current

30 September
28 September 2007

2008 restated
£’m £’m

Trade payables 13.4 17.3
Other tax and social security payable 11.2 12.0
Other payables 30.5 19.7
Accruals 36.1 31.2

91.2 80.2

18 Financial Liabilities – Borrowings

a) Short-term Borrowings
28 September 30 September

2008 2007
£’m £’m

Bank loans (secured) – net of arrangement fees totalling £1.0m (2007 – £0.4m) 96.7 126.0
Obligations under finance leases 0.7 0.1
Avery loan notes (guaranteed) – 8.6

97.4 134.7

The guarantee was provided by Barclays Bank PLC as part of the facilities agreement.
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18 Financial Liabilities – Borrowings continued

b) Long-term Borrowings
28 September 30 September

2008 2007
£’m £’m

Bank loans (secured) – net of arrangement fees totalling £nil (2007 – £0.2m) – 48.8
Obligations under finance leases 1.3 1.0
Loan notes 2015 – 1.7

1.3 51.5

Bank Loans
During the year the Group was unable to repay certain of its bank loans as they fell due. Further details are given in note 33.

The bank loans are secured by a fixed and floating charge over all of the assets of the Group and certain of its subsidiaries. Interest on the
bank loans was charged at margins between 1.25% and 2.5% above LIBOR.

Of the total bank loans falling due within one year, £48.0m (2007 – £6.0m) relates to term loans, £35.1m (2007 – £120.0m) relates to
short-term facilities drawn to fund acquisitions, £8.6m (2007 – £nil) relates to loans drawn to fund ongoing developments and £6.0m
(2007 – £nil) was drawn on the revolving credit facility.

The Group has a three-year interest rate swap agreement at a fixed rate of 5.09% on £30.0m of debt. The swap expires on 26 July 2009.

Finance Leases
As at 28 September 2008 the Group had finance leases due in less than one year of £0.7m (2007 – £0.1m), due in one to two years of
£0.5m (2007 – £0.5m) and due in three to five years of £0.8m (2007 – £0.5m).

19 Provisions and Similar Obligations

Provisions
£’m

At 1 October 2006 8.1

Utilised in the period (1.0)

On acquisition 4.2

At 30 September 2007 – restated (note 11) 11.3

Utilised in the period (1.9)

At 28 September 2008 9.4

Provisions relate to amounts provided in respect of vacant properties and onerous contracts.

Provisions for vacant properties relates to rents payable on leased properties acquired as part of the acquisitions of Southern Cross Bidco
Limited and Cannon Capital Ventures Limited and their respective subsidiary undertakings. The longest lease expiry is April 2018 and in
the opinion of the Directors the re-letting of these properties is unlikely.

Utilisation in the year represents amounts paid under operating leases on related properties.
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20 Future Minimum Rental Payable

28 September 30 September
2008 2007
£’m £’m

Future minimum rental payable 157.7 107.2

Future minimum rental payable represents the cumulative difference between operating lease charges under IFRS and the amounts
actually payable up to the period end.

An analysis of the movement during the period is given below:
28 September 30 September

2008 2007
£’m £’m

Opening balance 107.2 63.7
Charged to income statement 50.5 43.5

Closing balance 157.7 107.2

21 Financial Instruments

Numerical financial instruments disclosures are set out below. Additional disclosures are set out in the accounting policies relating to
risk management.

In accordance with IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”, management has reviewed contracts for embedded
derivatives that are required to be separately accounted for if they do not meet certain requirements set out in the standard. No such
embedded derivatives were found.

Financial Instruments
The Group’s financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise borrowings, cash and liquid resources and various items such as trade
receivables and trade payables, that arise directly from its operations. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to manage the
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group also enters into derivative transactions (principally interest rate swaps). The purpose of such
transactions is to manage the interest rate risks arising from the Group’s operations and its sources of finance.

It is, and has been throughout the period under review, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken.
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk and liquidity risk. The Board reviews and agrees policies
for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below. These policies remained unchanged throughout the periods presented.

Currency Risks
The Group is based in the United Kingdom, with its operations entirely within the United Kingdom. It does not hold any investment in
overseas operations and consequently the balance sheet is not exposed to movements in currency exchange rates. The Group does not
have sales or purchase transactions in currencies other than the unit’s functional currency and consequently does not have transactional
currency exposures.
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21 Financial Instruments continued

Numerical Disclosures
Interest Rate Risk Profile of Financial Liabilities
After taking into account interest rate swaps entered into by the Group, the interest rate and currency profile of the Group’s financial
liabilities is:

At 28 September 2008
Fixed Floating
rate rate

financial financial
liabilities liabilities Total

Sterling £’m £’m £’m

Bank borrowings 30.0 67.7 97.7
Finance leases – 2.0 2.0
Trade and other payables (no interest paid) 91.2 – 91.2
Capital grants (no interest paid) 3.4 – 3.4
Onerous lease provisions (no interest paid) 9.4 – 9.4

134.0 69.7 203.7

Fixed rate weighted average interest rate, excluding no interest-paid items (%) 5.09%

Fixed rate weighted average interest period, excluding no interest-paid items (years) 0.8

The floating rate financial liabilities have comprised:

� Sterling denominated bank borrowings and overdrafts that bear interest at rates between 1.25% and 2.5% above UK bank base rates.

� Sterling denominated loan notes that bear interest at 0.75% below LIBOR.

At 30 September 2007
Fixed Floating
rate rate

financial financial
liabilities liabilities Total

Sterling £’m £’m £’m

Bank borrowings 30.0 145.4 175.4
Finance leases – 1.1 1.1
Trade and other payables (no interest paid) 80.2 – 80.2
Loan notes – 10.3 10.3
Capital grants (no interest paid) 1.3 – 1.3
Onerous lease provisions (no interest paid) – restated 11.3 – 11.3

122.8 156.8 279.6

Fixed rate weighted average interest rate, excluding no interest-paid items (%) 5.09%

Fixed rate weighted average interest period, excluding no interest-paid items (years) 1.8

The floating rate financial liabilities have comprised:

� Sterling denominated bank borrowings and overdrafts that bear interest at rates between 1.25% and 3.25% above UK bank base rates.

� Sterling denominated loan notes that bear interest at between 0.75% below LIBOR and 1.25% below LIBOR.
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21 Financial Instruments continued

Interest Rate Risk of Financial Assets
The interest rate risk profile of the Group’s financial assets is as follows:

28 September 30 September
2008 2007
£’m £’m

Cash 2.2 14.9
Accounts receivable due within one year – restated 47.8 41.6
Other non-current assets 3.3 3.0

53.3 59.5

Interest accrues, at floating rates, on cash balances held and accounts receivable due in more than one year; balances due in less than one
year do not attract interest.

Maturity of Financial Liabilities and Undrawn Commitments
The interest rate risk profile of the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows:

28 September 30 September
2008 2007
£’m £’m

Within one year 190.1 215.6
In more than one year, but less than two years 1.0 7.6
In more than two years, but less than five years 6.5 48.3
More than five years 6.1 8.1

203.7 279.6

The Group’s undrawn commitments’ expiry dates were as follows:
28 September 30 September

2008 2007
£’m £’m

Within one year 43.6 –
More than five years – 19.6

43.6 19.6

Currency Exposures on Monetary Assets
The Group does not have any currency exposures that give rise to net currency gains and losses to be recognised in the income statement.

Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities
28 September 2008 30 September 2007

Book Fair Book Fair
Primary financial instruments held or value value value value
issued to finance the Group’s operations £’m £’m £’m £’m

Borrowings 99.7 99.7 186.8 186.8
Other financial liabilities 104.0 104.0 88.6 88.6
Financial assets 53.3 53.3 59.5 59.5

Derivative financial instruments held
to manage the interest rate profile

Interest rate swap – asset 0.1 0.1 0.3 0.3
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21 Financial Instruments continued

Interest rate swap contracts have been marked to market to produce fair value figures. All other fair values shown above have been
calculated by discounting cash flows at prevailing interest rates. For floating rate bank loans, fair values closely approximate to book values.

The fair value of short-term loans and overdrafts approximate to the fair carrying value because of the short maturity of these instruments.
The fair value of long-term borrowings approximate to the carrying value reported in the balance sheet as the majority are floating rate.

Gains and Losses on Hedges
The Group enters into interest rate swaps to manage its interest rate exposure. Currently the Group does not apply hedge accounting.

22 Deferred Tax

Deferred tax is calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using a tax rate of 28% (2007 – 28%).

The movement on the deferred tax account is as shown below:
28 September 30 September

2008 2007
£’m £’m

Opening balance (25.1) (12.9)
Income and expense credit (note 7) (16.0) (12.6)
On acquisition (0.1) 0.6
Tax charged directly to equity – (0.2)

Closing balance (41.2) (25.1)

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of all tax losses and other temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax assets
where it is probable that these assets will be recovered. Deferred tax assets of £9.0m (2007 – £7.1m) were not recognised in respect
of losses that can be carried forward against future taxable income.

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to the offsetting of balances within the same jurisdiction as permitted by IAS12)
during the period are shown below.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset where there is a legally enforceable right of offset and there is an intention to settle the
balances net.

Deferred Tax Assets
Accelerated

Operating tax
leases depreciation Other Total
£’m £’m £’m £’m

At 1 October 2007 (29.9) 1.4 3.4 (25.1)
Income and expense (credit)/charge (14.2) (3.3) 1.5 (16.0)
Acquisition of subsidiary – (0.1) – (0.1)

At 28 September 2008 (44.1) (2.0) 4.9 (41.2)
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23 Called Up Share Capital

28 September 30 September
2008 2007

Number Number

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of 1p each 300,000,000 300,000,000

£’m £’m

Ordinary shares of 1p each 3 3

Number Number

Allotted, called up and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of 1p each 188,067,377 188,067,377

£’m £’m

Ordinary shares of 1p each 1.9 1.9

24 Reserves

Share Accumulated
premium deficit

Group £’m £’m

At 1 October 2007 161.5 (18.6)
Loss attributable to ordinary shareholders – (18.0)
Ordinary dividends paid – (16.5)
Share-based payments – (0.2)

At 28 September 2008 161.5 (53.3)

25 Shareholders’ Funds and Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

Share Share Accumulated Total
capital premium deficit equity

Group £’m £’m £’m £’m

At 1 October 2007 1.9 161.5 (18.6) 144.8
Loss attributable to ordinary shareholders – – (18.0) (18.0)
Ordinary dividends paid (16.5) (16.5)
Share-based payments (including deferred tax of £0.1m) – – (0.2) (0.2)

At 28 September 2008 1.9 161.5 (53.3) 110.1
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26 Cash Flows from Operations

Reconciliation of operating (loss)/income before taxation to net cash flow from operating activities:
28 September 30 September

2008 2007
£’m £’m

Operating (loss)/income (5.2) 11.9
Adjustments for:
Loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment and subsidiary undertakings 9.6 (0.8)
Impairment of freehold assets held for resale 4.5 –
Depreciation 17.6 13.2
Amortisation 1.1 (1.0)
Share-based payments (0.2) 1.5
Changes in working capital (excluding effects of acquisitions of subsidiaries)
Increase in inventories (0.3) (0.9)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (3.6) 0.8
(Decrease)/increase in payables (3.2) 1.8
Increase in provision for future minimum rental payable 50.5 43.5
Government grants 2.5 1.3
Decrease in provisions (1.9) (1.0)

Cash generated from operations 71.4 70.3

27 Reconciliation of Net Cash Flow to Movement in Net Debt

28 September 30 September
2008 2007
£’m £’m

Net decrease in cash for the period (13.4) (14.6)
On acquisition (21.2) (96.3)
Cash outflow from decrease in debt 110.5 18.6

75.9 (92.3)

Non-cash items
Loan notes – (8.9)
New finance leases (1.5) (1.1)

Movement in net debt 74.4 (102.3)
Opening net debt (171.9) (69.6)

Closing net debt (97.5) (171.9)

28 Analysis of Net Debt

At At
30 September On Cash Non-cash 28 September

2007 acquisition flow items 2008
£’m £’m £’m £’m £’m

Cash 14.9 0.7 (13.4) – 2.2

Bank loans (175.4) (21.9) 99.6 – (97.7)
Finance leases (1.1) – 0.6 (1.5) (2.0)
Loan notes (10.3) – 10.3 – –

(186.8) (21.9) 110.5 (1.5) (99.7)

Net debt (171.9) (21.2) 97.1 (1.5) (97.5)

Non-cash items represent inception of finance leases.
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29 Acquisitions

Acquisition of “Bondcare”
On 5 November 2007, the Group executed a direct tenancy arrangement with the Bondcare Group (“Bondcare”) for the operation of
39 elderly care homes containing 1,911 beds, for cash consideration, including professional fees, of £0.9m, resulting in preliminary
goodwill of £2.6m.

In calculating the goodwill arising on the acquisition, the provisional fair value of Bondcare has been assessed and adjustments from book
value have been made where necessary. The acquired business contributed revenue of £39.1m and profit after taxation of £1.1m to the
Group for the period 5 November 2007 to 28 September 2008. In addition, the acquisition increased the number of available beds by
1,911. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 October 2007, the contribution to Group revenue for the period to 28 September 2008 would
have been £43.2m with contributions to profit after tax of £1.3m.

The residual excess over the net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill in the financial statements. The fair value adjustments are
summarised in the fair value table below:

Carrying value
pre acquisition Fair value

Bondcare £’m £’m

Receivables 2.0 1.9
Cash and cash equivalents 0.2 0.2
Payables (3.0) (3.8)

Net assets acquired (0.8) (1.7)

Goodwill 2.6

Consideration 0.9

Consideration satisfied by:
Cash 0.9

£’m

Cash consideration (0.9)
Cash acquired 0.2

(0.7)

The fair value adjustments are as follows:
£’m

Assessment of recoverability of debtors (0.1)
Assessment of liabilities acquired (0.8)

(0.9)

The goodwill on acquisition primarily relates to the acquired workforce. No intangible assets were acquired as part of the acquisition
of Bondcare.

In accordance with IFRS3, the values attributed may be revised for a period of 12 months following acquisition as further information
becomes available.

Acquisition of Portland Group
On 29 February 2008, the Group acquired the entire share capital of the Portland Group containing seven homes with 381 beds and
three day care centres with 115 places, for cash consideration, including professional fees, of £40.4m. The acquired business contributed
revenues of £5.4m and profit after taxation of £0.1m to the Group for the period from 29 February 2008 to 28 September 2008.
In addition, the acquisition increased the number of available beds by 381. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 October 2007, the contribution
to Group revenue for the period to 28 September 2008 would have been £9.4m with contributions to profit after tax of £0.2m.
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29 Acquisitions continued

The residual excess over the net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill in the financial statements. The provisional fair value
adjustments are summarised in the following table:

Carrying value
pre acquisition Fair value

Portland Group £’m £’m

Property assets held for sale 39.4 38.5
Receivables and accrued income 1.2 0.7
Payables (0.9) (0.9)
Taxation (0.2) (0.2)
Loans (2.9) (2.9)

Net assets acquired 36.6 35.2

Goodwill 5.2

Consideration 40.4

Consideration satisfied by:
Cash 40.4

£’m

Cash consideration (40.4)
Cash acquired –

(40.4)

The fair value adjustments are as follows:
£’m

Assessment of market value of property, plant and equipment (0.9)
Assessment of recoverability of debtors (0.5)

(1.4)

The goodwill on acquisition primarily relates to the acquired workforce. No intangible assets were acquired as part of the acquisition
of Portland.

In accordance with IFRS3, the values attributed may be revised for a period of 12 months following acquisition as further information
becomes available.

Other Acquisitions
On 25 October 2007, the Group acquired the entire share capital of Loppington House Holdings Limited, a specialist learning disability
business with 46 beds across two sites, for an enterprise value of £3.2m, being cash consideration, of which £3.1m was paid for shares.

On 3 March 2008, the Group acquired the entire share capital of the Henwick Grange Nursing Home Limited containing 45 beds, for an
enterprise value of £5.2m, being cash consideration, of which £3.8m was paid for shares.

On 4 March 2008, the Group acquired the entire share capital of the Coatbridge Care Home Limited containing 72 beds, for an enterprise
value of £5.9m, being cash consideration, of which £1.3m was paid for shares.

On 19 March 2008, the Group acquired the business of Walberton Place Nursing Home, containing 34 beds, for £1.

On 26 March 2008, the Group acquired the business of Parkville Care Home, containing 94 beds, for £1.

On 27 March 2008, the Group acquired the entire share capital of Port Sunlight Care Limited containing 62 beds, for an enterprise value
of £4.8m, being cash consideration, of which £0.3m was paid for shares.
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29 Acquisitions continued

On 23 April 2008, the Group acquired the entire share capital of Heather Park Homes Limited, containing 35 beds, for an enterprise value
of £2.4m, being cash consideration, of which £1.9m was paid for shares.

On 9 May 2008, the Group acquired the entire share capital of Alexandra Park Limited, containing 34 beds, for an enterprise value of £5.1m,
being cash consideration, of which £0.8m was paid for shares.

On 29 May 2008, the Group acquired the entire share capital of Principle Care Limited, containing 15 beds, for an enterprise value of £2.8m,
being cash consideration, of which £2.0m was paid for shares.

On 19 August 2008, the Group acquired the entire share capital of Flagship Tower (Methil) Limited, containing 63 beds, for an enterprise
value of £4.1m, being cash consideration, of which £0.1m was paid for shares.

Professional costs and associated fees in respect of the above acquisitions totalled £1.3m.

The acquired businesses contributed revenue of £7.2m and profit after tax of £nil. If all acquisitions had occurred on 1 October 2007,
the contribution to Group revenue would have been £12.3m with contributions to profit after tax of £0.5m.

In calculating the goodwill arising on these acquisitions, the provisional fair value of the assets acquired have been assessed and
adjustments from book value have been made where necessary. These adjustments are summarised in the following table:

Provisional
Carrying value fair value to
pre-acquisition the Group

£’m £’m

Property, plant and equipment 0.3 3.3
Property assets held for sale 17.7 29.5
Receivables 0.7 0.6
Cash and cash equivalents 0.5 0.5
Payables (1.8) (2.0)
Loans (19.0) (19.0)
Taxation (0.2) (0.2)

Net assets acquired (1.8) 12.7
Goodwill on acquisitions 1.9
Consideration (satisfied by cash) 14.6

£’m

Cash consideration (14.6)
Cash acquired 0.5

(14.1)

The fair value adjustments are as follows:
£’m

Assessment of market value of property, plant and equipment 14.8
Assessment of recoverability of debtors (0.1)
Assessment of liabilities acquired (0.2)

14.5

The goodwill on acquisition primarily relates to the acquired workforce. No intangible assets were acquired as part of the above acquisitions.

In accordance with IFRS3, the values attributed may be revised for a period of 12 months following acquisition as further information
becomes available.

Negative goodwill arising on acquisitions is credited to the income statement as part of amortisation.

The acquired businesses in total contributed revenue of £51.4m and profit after tax of £1.2m. If all acquisitions had occurred on 1 October
2007, the Group revenue would have been £902.9m and loss after tax £17.6m.
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30 Staff Costs

52 weeks 52 weeks
ended ended

28 September 30 September
2008 2007
£’m £’m

Staff costs for the Group during the period
Wages and salaries 473.5 391.5
Social security costs 36.8 30.2
Other pension costs (note 31) 0.6 0.6

510.9 422.3

Staff costs for the Group by function
Home payroll costs – excluding agency and other staff-related costs 491.1 403.0
Central payroll costs 19.8 19.3

510.9 422.3

Home payroll costs, as disclosed on the face of the income statement include agency and other staff-related costs. Agency and other staff
related costs totalled £9.5m and £6.0m for the periods ended 28 September 2008 and 30 September 2007 respectively.

Average monthly number of people (including Executive Directors) employed:
52 weeks 52 weeks

ended ended
28 September 30 September

2008 2007
Number Number

By activity
Care and ancillary 33,818 30,483
Management and administration 1,403 1,269

35,221 31,752

Directors’ Remuneration
A detailed analysis of Directors’ remuneration, including salaries, performance-related bonuses and share option schemes is provided in the
remuneration report on pages 37 to 41 under the heading Directors’ remuneration, which form part of these financial statements.

The total remuneration of the Directors comprises:
52 weeks 52 weeks

ended ended
28 September 30 September

2008 2007
£’m £’m

Aggregate emoluments 2.0 1.9
Compensation for loss of office 0.1 –
Company contributions to money purchase pension schemes 0.1 0.1

2.2 2.0

Details of the highest-paid Director are given in the remuneration report under the heading Directors’ remuneration (audited).

The key management of the Group are deemed to be the Board of Directors who have authority and responsibility for planning and
controlling all significant activities of the Group.
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31 Pension Charge

Pension costs for defined contribution schemes are as follows:
52 weeks 52 weeks

ended ended
28 September 30 September

2008 2007
£’m £’m

Defined contribution schemes 0.6 0.6

32 Contingent Liabilities

The Group has provided guarantees to certain of the Group’s landlords and holders of loan notes. As at 28 September 2008 these
guarantees totalled £10.1m (2007 – £20.4m).

33 Defaults and Breaches of Loans Payable

Borrowing and Covenants
During the year the Group had a syndicated term facility, a syndicated revolving credit facility for the purpose of managing working capital,
a bilateral development facility for financing the Group’s own development programme and two syndicated credit facilities specifically for
the purpose of funding acquisitions.

One of the acquisition facilities, originally drawn to £46.0m, was due for repayment on 30 June 2008. It was intended that the property
assets funded by this facility would have been sold prior to this date and the loan repaid. The assets remained unsold at 30 June 2008 and
the Group was unable to repay the associated loans as they fell due. Accordingly, the Group’s syndicated lenders granted an extension to
the repayment date and a waiver on the related financial covenants until 28 July 2008, a subsequent extension and waiver was granted
up until 30 October 2008.

The Group’s syndicated credit facilities are subject to various financial covenant clauses, whereby the Group is required to meet certain key
financial performance indicators. One such indicator is a net debt to EBITDA ratio. As a result of delays in the sale of various acquired
freehold properties, the Group was unable to satisfy the net debt to EBITDA financial covenant as at 6 July 2008 and 28 September 2008.
As noted above the Group’s syndicated lenders granted waivers to these financial covenants.

Facilities
Due to the non-payment of facilities due on 30 June 2008, totalling £46.0m, the bank is contractually entitled to request early repayment
on all credit facilities. As such, loans outstanding of £97.4m have been classified as due within one year.

Following the divestment of 16 freehold properties on the 29 August 2008 and 4 September 2008, for a total consideration of £51.8m
and scheduled amortisations the borrowings under the acquisition facilities were reduced to £33.4m as at the year end.

On the 30 October 2008 management completed the renegotiation of its banking facilities. Further details and the impact on the year end
balance sheet are given in note 37.

80 Southern Cross Healthcare Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2008



34 Financial Commitments

At 28 September 2008 and 30 September 2007 the Group had total commitments under non-cancellable operating leases expiring as follows:

28 September 30 September
2008 2007
£’m £’m

Within one year 239.4 200.9
Within one to three years 478.8 401.8
Within three to five years 478.8 401.8
Over five years 4,748.7 4,021.9

5,945.7 5,026.4

The majority of operating leases provide for fixed annual increases at 2.5% or 2.75%, or annual rent increases based on the retail price
index (“RPI”), subject to negotiated caps and collars.

Financial commitments, due within one year, under non-cancellable operating leases and analysed by nature of lease terms are included below.

28 September 30 September
2008 2007
£’m £’m

Annual rental increases based on RPI subject to cap and collar arrangement 58.9 43.8
Fixed annual rental increases 140.1 135.2
Five-yearly, fixed, rental increases 33.3 15.6
Annual rental increases based on RPI 7.1 6.3

239.4 200.9

35 Share-based Payments

The total credit for share-based payments was £0.2m (2007 – debit £1.5m) all of which relates to equity settled transactions. After deferred
tax, the total credit was £0.2m (2007 – debit £1.1m).

Performance Share Plan
The Southern Cross Healthcare Group 2007 Performance Share Plan (the “PSP”) is available to Executive Directors and approximately
1,000 members of senior management. Annual grants are made under the PSP with a value of up to 100% of an individual’s salary.
Vesting of options is subject to performance conditions based on earnings per share and total shareholder return. Further details of the
vesting conditions are given in the remuneration report on page 38.

A reconciliation of option movements during the period is given below:
52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

28 September 2008 30 September 2007

Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise

Number price Number price
’000 p ’000 p

Outstanding:
Beginning of period 1,972 £Nil 2,365 £Nil
Granted 4,091 £Nil – n/a
Lapsed (1,053) £Nil (393) £Nil

End of period 5,010 £Nil 1,972 £Nil
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35 Share-based Payments continued

The fair value of Company’s options granted in the period ended 28 September 2008 and the assumptions used in the calculation are
as follows:

52 weeks 52 weeks
ended ended

28 September 30 September
2008 2007

Grant date 17 January 2008 4 September 2006
Share price at grant date £4.55 £2.94
Exercise price £Nil £Nil
Number granted 3,719,808 2,365,332
Option pricing model Monte Carlo Monte Carlo
Vesting period (years) 3 3
Expected volatility 29.00% 26.00%
Contracted life (years) 3 3
Risk free rate 4.26% 5.02%
Dividend yield 2.16% 0.00%
Fair value per option £6.96 £2.94

Expected volatility is based on historical volatility of shares in the same sector over the past ten years. The risk-free rate of return is the
yield on zero-coupon UK government bonds of a term consistent with assumed option life.

The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at the end of the period was 22.6 months.

A further 370,970 options were granted on 14 May 2008. The same assumptions and valuation technique were used as those disclosed
for the grant on 17 January 2008.

36 Related Party Transactions

Except for transactions with subsidiary undertakings, there were no related party transactions during the period ended 28 September 2008.
Details of principal subsidiary undertakings are given in note 38.

37 Events After the Balance Sheet Date

Renegotiation of Banking Facilities
Facilities
On 30 October 2008 the Group completed the negotiation of its banking facilities. The key terms of the renegotiated facilities are given below.

The term loan A has been increased to £70m. This consists of the original £48m outstanding under the term loan facility, £14m transferred
from the previous acquisition facility (representing the shortfall in proceeds from the sale of the Portland portfolio), and an £8m increase
in the funds available to the Group. The final repayment date is 30 June 2011, with the first amortisation payment of £5m due on
31 March 2009.

The revolving credit facility of £36m finances the Group’s working capital and the amount of this facility, which is available up to 30 June
2011, remains unchanged. In addition to this, a £12m seasonal revolving credit facility has been put in place to cover the period from
22 December 2008 to 22 February 2009 to meet the Group’s potential working capital requirements during the Christmas and New
Year period.

As at the year end the Group had borrowings under the acquisition facilities of £33.4m. Following the transfer of £14m to the term loan,
the acquisition facilities have now been combined and replaced by a loan totalling £19.4m. The loan, which is due for final repayment
on 30 June 2010, will be repaid from the proceeds of further freehold divestments during the term of the loan.

82 Southern Cross Healthcare Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2008



37 Events After the Balance Sheet Date continued

In addition, the Group’s development facility which is in place to finance five developments, remains unchanged was drawn to £13.6m
at year end and may be drawn to a maximum of £28.8m. The development facility shall continue to be utilised and drawn for the purpose
of financing the Group’s own development programme.

A revised covenant package has been agreed as part of the refinancing, based upon on the Company achieving a minimum Adjusted
EBITDA of £70m for the financial year to 27 September 2009.

Interest
Interest on the new facilities shall be charged at margins between 2.75% and 3.25% above LIBOR.

Disposal of Freehold
On 13 November 2008 the Group sold the freehold interest in Torrwood Care Centre to Sovereign Property Holdings Limited for a cash
consideration of £7.8m, which is equal to the book value of the property. The annual rent payable in respect of the property is £0.6m.
Proceeds from the sale were used to pay down by £6.2m the development facility and the remainder will be used to part repay the
drawings on the Company’s revolving credit facilities.

Financial Instruments
On 27 November 2008, the Group entered into interest rate caps that limit the maximum interest rate paid, on a weighted average debt
of £16.3m, to 4.62% plus margin. On the same date the Group also entered into interest rate collars that fix the interest rate paid, on a
weighted average debt of £16.3m, within a range of 4.50% and 2.57% plus margin. Both instruments expire on 30 June 2011 and have
the effect of either limiting or fixing the interest rate payable on 70% of the weighted average Term A loan.

38 Principal Subsidiary Undertakings

The principal subsidiary undertakings as at 28 September 2008, all of which have a year end of 28 September 2008, and 100% of the
ordinary shares are owned and registered in England and Wales (unless otherwise stated: SC = registered in Scotland) and have been
consolidated in the Group financial statements, are as follows:

Care Home Operating Companies Intermediate Holding Companies
APTA Healthcare (UK) Limited APTA Healthcare Limited
Ashbourne (Eton) Limited Ashbourne Holdings Limited
Ashbourne Group UK Limited (SC) Ashbourne Limited
Ashbourne Homes Limited (SC) CCSX Holdings Limited
Exceler Health Care Group Limited CCSX Limited
Exceler Healthcare Services Limited CCSX Ventures Limited
Southern Cross BC Opco Limited Southern Cross (Highfield Holdco) Limited
Southern Cross Care Centres Limited Southern Cross (SX Holdco) Limited
Southern Cross Care Homes No.2 Limited Southern Cross Bidco Limited
Southern Cross Cymru Limited Southern Cross Care Homes Holdings Limited
Southern Cross Healthcare Services Limited Southern Cross Care Homes Limited
Southern Cross Home Properties Limited Southern Cross Finance Limited
Southern Cross (LSC) Limited Southern Cross Healthcare Investments No.1 Limited
Southern Cross Opco Limited Southern Cross Healthcare Investments No.2 Limited
Trinity Care Limited Southern Cross Healthcare Limited
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members
of Southern Cross Healthcare Group PLC (Company)
We have audited the parent company financial statements of Southern Cross Healthcare Group PLC for the 52-week period ended
28 September 2008 which comprise the Company balance sheet, the Company statement of changes in shareholders’ equity, the statement
of accounting policies and the related notes. These parent company financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies
set out therein. We have also audited the information in the Directors’ remuneration report that is described as having been audited.

We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of Southern Cross Healthcare Group PLC for the 52-week period ended
28 September 2008.

Respective Responsibilities of Directors and Auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ remuneration report and the parent company financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union
are set out in the statement of Directors’ responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited in
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report, including
the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act
1985 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the parent
company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance
with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you whether in our opinion the information given in the Directors’ report is consistent
with the parent company financial statements. The information given in the Directors’ report includes that specific information presented
in the operating and financial reviews that is cross referred from the activities of the Group section of the Directors’ report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the
information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration and other
transactions is not disclosed.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited parent company financial
statements. The other information comprises only the Directors’ report, the unaudited part of the remuneration report, the Chairman’s
statement, the operational review, the financial review and the corporate governance statement. We consider the implications for our
report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the parent company financial statements.
Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of Audit Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the parent company financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and
judgements made by the Directors in the preparation of the parent company financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies
are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order
to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the parent company financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ remuneration report to be audited are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error.
In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the parent company financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited.
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Opinion
In our opinion:

� the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,
of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 28 September 2008;

� the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited have been properly prepared
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and

� the information given in the Directors’ report is consistent with the parent company financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Newcastle upon Tyne
9 December 2008
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Company Balance Sheet

28 September 30 September
2008 2007

Note £’m £’m

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investments 2 – –
Other receivables – amounts due from subsidiary undertakings 3 225.6 202.5

Total non-current assets 225.6 202.5

Total assets 225.6 202.5

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Other payables 4 (4.4) (3.9)

Total current liabilities (4.4) (3.9)

Non-current liabilities
Provisions and similar obligations 5 (4.3) –

Total non-current liabilities (4.3) –

Total liabilities (8.7) (3.9)

Net assets 216.9 198.6

Capital and reserves
Ordinary shares 6 1.9 1.9
Share premium 7 161.5 161.5
Retained earnings 7 53.5 35.2

Total shareholders’ funds 216.9 198.6

The financial statements on pages 86 to 90 were approved by the Board of Directors on 9 December 2008 and signed on their behalf by:

R Miles Chairman R Midmer Finance Director
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Share premium Profit and loss Total
Share capital account account equity

£’m £’m £’m £’m

Balance at 2 October 2006 1.9 161.5 25.0 188.4

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders – – 17.0 17.0

Ordinary dividends paid (6.8) (6.8)

Balance at 30 September 2007 1.9 161.5 35.2 198.6

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders – – 34.8 34.8

Ordinary dividends paid – – (16.5) (16.5)

Balance at 28 September 2008 1.9 161.5 53.5 216.9

Company Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity



The Company’s accounting policies are the same as those set out in the statement of accounting policies of the Group financial statements,
except as noted below.

Cash Flow Statement
The Company is a holding company and does not hold any bank accounts. Transactions such as dividend payments to Shareholders are
paid by subsidiary companies and charged through intercompany accounts. Therefore no cash flow statement has been presented.

Adoption of IFRS
These financial statements are the first full period statements to be prepared in accordance with IFRS. Comparatives for 2007 have been
restated to IFRS where applicable.

The transitional information required to be disclosed by IFRS is included in Note 9.

Fixed Asset Investments
Fixed asset investments are included at cost, less any provision for impairment.

Statement of Accounting Policies
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the 52 weeks ended 28 September 2008

1 Income Statement

Southern Cross Healthcare Group PLC Company has not presented its own income statement as permitted by Section 230 of the Companies
Act 1985. The profit attributable to ordinary shareholders for the financial period dealt with in the accounts of the Company is £34.8m
(2007 – £17.0m).

The audit fee in respect of the Company was £7,000 (2007 – £7,000). The Company has no employees (2007 – none). Directors are
remunerated by other Group companies in the current period and prior period.

2 Investments

Company £’000

At 28 September 2008 and 30 September 2007 3

The principal subsidiary undertakings as at 28 September 2008, all of which have a year end of 28 September 2008, and 100% of the
ordinary shares are owned and registered in England and Wales (unless otherwise stated: SC = registered in Scotland) and have been
consolidated in the Group financial information, are as follows:

Care Home Operating Companies Intermediate Holding Companies
APTA Healthcare (UK) Limited APTA Healthcare Limited
Ashbourne (Eton) Limited Ashbourne Holdings Limited
Ashbourne Group UK Limited (SC) Ashbourne Limited
Ashbourne Homes Limited (SC) CCSX Holdings Limited
Exceler Health Care Group Limited CCSX Limited
Exceler Healthcare Services Limited CCSX Ventures Limited
Southern Cross Care Centres Limited Southern Cross (Highfield Holdco) Limited
Southern Cross Care Homes No.2 Limited Southern Cross (SX Holdco) Limited
Southern Cross Cymru Limited Southern Cross Bidco Limited
Southern Cross Healthcare Services Limited Southern Cross Care Homes Holdings Limited
Southern Cross Home Properties Limited Southern Cross Care Homes Limited
Southern Cross (LSC) Limited Southern Cross Finance Limited
Trinity Care Limited Southern Cross Healthcare Investments No.1 Limited

Southern Cross Healthcare Investments No.2 Limited
Southern Cross Healthcare Limited

All investments are held indirectly via the intermediate holding company, Southern Cross Bidco Limited, with the exception of Southern
Cross Healthcare Investments No.1 Limited and Southern Cross Healthcare Investments No.2 Limited.

The Directors believe that the carrying value of the investments is supported by their underlying net assets.

3 Other Receivables

Amounts due after more than one year:
28 September 30 September

2008 2007
£’m £’m

Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings 225.6 202.5

Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings are unsecured and repayable upon demand. Interest is charged at a rate of 7%.

The fair value of trade and other receivables is equal to the amounts shown above.
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4 Other Payables

28 September 30 September
2008 2007
£’m £’m

Corporation tax 4.4 3.9

5 Provisions and Similar Obligations

Provisions
£’m

At 30 September 2007 –

On acquisition 4.3

At 28 September 2008 4.3

Provisions relate to amounts provided in respect of vacant properties and onerous contracts.

6 Called Up Share Capital

28 September 30 September
2008 2007

Number Number

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of 1p each 300,000,000 300,000,000

£’m £’m

Ordinary shares of 1p each 3 3

Number Number

Allotted and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of 1p each 188,067,377 188,067,377

£’m £’m

Ordinary shares of 1p each 1.9 1.9

7 Reserves

Share Profit
premium and loss

account account
£’m £’m

At 2 October 2006 161.5 25.0

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders – 17.0
Ordinary dividends paid – (6.8)

At 30 September 2007 161.5 35.2

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders – 34.8
Ordinary dividends paid – (16.5)

At 28 September 2008 161.5 53.5
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the 52 weeks ended 28 September 2008

8 Dividends Paid and Proposed

A final dividend of 5p per share, totalling £9.4m, in respect of the 52 weeks ended 30 September 2007, was paid on 11 February 2008.

The Directors declared an interim dividend of 3.75p (2007 – 2.5p) per share, totalling £7.1m (2007 – £4.7m) and paid on 20 June 2008
(2007 – 22 June 2007).

The Directors have decided not to recommend a final dividend for the year ended 28 September 2008.

9 Related Party Transactions

Transactions with fellow group companies for the period ended 28 September 2008:
Dividend Interest Amounts
received received owed to

£’m £’m £’m

Fellow subsidiary undertakings 28.3 15.1 225.6

Transactions with fellow group companies for the period ended 30 September 2007:
Dividend Interest Amounts
received received owed to

£’m £’m £’m

Fellow subsidiary undertakings 9.0 13.0 202.5

9 Transition from UK GAAP to IFRS

In accordance with the provisions of IFRS1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards”, there are no reconciling
items for net assets and profit after tax from UK GAAP to IFRS.
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The following table shows the most recent three-year record under IFRS:
52 weeks 52 weeks 52 weeks

ended ended ended
28 September 30 September 1 October

2008 2007 2006
£’m £’m £’m

Revenue 889.4 731.9 610.9
Home payroll costs (500.6) (409.0) (343.0)
Home running costs (113.1) (92.7) (78.3)

Home EBITDAR1 before central costs 275.7 230.2 189.6
Rent

Charge for rental amounts currently payable (171.1) (138.9) (116.1)
Charge for future minimum rental increases (50.5) (43.5) (30.7)

Total rent (221.6) (182.4) (146.8)

Home EBITDA2 before central costs 54.1 47.8 42.8
Central costs (26.5) (26.0) (30.8)
Other operating income – 1.5 0.9

Adjusted EBITDA3 before exceptional central costs
and charge for future minimum rental increases 78.1 66.8 48.8
Exceptional central costs – – (5.2)
Charge for future minimum rental increases (50.5) (43.5) (30.7)

EBITDA 27.6 23.3 12.9
(Loss)/profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment
and subsidiary undertakings (14.1) 0.8 0.4
Depreciation (17.6) (13.2) (10.1)
Amortisation (1.1) 1.0 (1.6)

Operating (loss)/income (5.2) 11.9 1.6
Finance costs (11.2) (10.2) (19.3)
Exceptional finance costs (6.9) – –
Finance income 0.4 1.3 0.3

(Loss)/profit before taxation (22.9) 3.0 (17.4)
Taxation credit/(charge) 4.9 (1.1) 5.3

(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (18.0) 1.9 (12.1)

1 EBITDAR represents earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment and subsidiary undertakings and rent.
2 EBITDA represents earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment and subsidiary undertakings.
3 Adjusted EBITDA represents EBITDA after adding back exceptional central costs and the charge for future minimum rental increases.

Three-year Record
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Shareholder Information

2008/2009 Financial Calendar
Interim results 12 May 2009
Financial year end 27 September 2009

Registered Office
Southern Cross Healthcare Group Plc
Southgate House
Archer Street
Darlington
County Durham DL3 6AH

Registered Number
05328138

Registrars
Capita Registrars
Northern House
Woodsome Park
Fenay Bridge
Huddersfield
West Yorkshire HD8 0GA

Brokers
Morgan Stanley Securities Limited UBS Limited
25 Cabot Square 1 Finsbury Avenue
Canary Wharf London EC2M 2PP
London EC2V 7QP

Independent Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
89 Sandyford Road
Newcastle Upon Tyne NE1 8HW

Solicitors
DLA Piper UK LLP Clifford Chance LLP
Princes Exchange 10 Upper Bank Street
Princes Square London E14 5JJ
Leeds LS1 4BY

Bankers
Barclays Bank
1 Churchill Place
Canary Wharf
London E14 5HP

Shareholder Enquiries
If you have any enquiries as a Shareholder, please contact Richard Midmer, Group Finance Director on 01325 351100
or via email: rmidmer@schealthcare.co.uk.

Website: www.schealthcare.co.uk
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